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Consolidated Financial Statements 

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and other 
Comprehensive Income for Financial Year 2023 

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss for Financial Year 2023 

EUR m Note 2023 2022 

Revenue (1) 960.1 432.5 

Cost of sales (2) (670.6) (302.9) 

Gross profit   289.5 129.6 

Selling expenses (3) (175.6) (70.5) 

Administrative expenses (4) (113.7) (46.2) 

Other operating income   0.4 0.3 

Other operating expenses (5) (2.1) (0.6) 

Operating profit   (1.6) 12.6 

Other financial income (6) 8.6 7.0 

Other finance costs (7) (21.3) (11.0) 

Financial result   (12.7) (4.0) 

Profit/(loss) before tax   (14.2) 8.5 

Income tax (8) (3.8) 6.6 

Profit/(loss) for the period   (18.1) 15.1 

profit or loss allocable to the owners of Enpal B.V.   (21.2) 14.4 

of which profit or loss allocable to non-controlling 
interests 

  (3.2) 0.7 

Consolidated Statement of Other Comprehensive Income for Financial Year 2023 

EUR m 2023 2022 

Profit/(loss) for the period (18.1) 15.1 

Effective portion of profit/loss from cash flow hedges after tax (9.9) 7.0 

Currency translation differences from foreign financial statements 0.1 0.0 

Other comprehensive income (9.9) 7.0 

Comprehensive income (27.9) 22.1 

of which comprehensive income allocable to the owners of Enpal B.V. (24.0) 21.0 

of which comprehensive income allocable to non-controlling interests (3.9) 1.2 
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as at 31 
December 2023 

(Before appropriation of result) 
EUR m Note 31 Dec 2023 31 Dec 2022 

Non-current assets   222.2 612.5 

Intangible assets (10) 5.4 2.7 

Property, plant and equipment (11) 32.0 14.5 

Right-of-use assets (12) 30.9 11.6 

Lease and loan receivables (13) 115.5 542.4 

Other financial assets (16) 3.4 10.7 

Other non-financial assets (17) 14.5 17.6 

Deferred tax assets (8) 20.4 13.0 

Current assets   1,961.2 406.1 

Inventories (14) 183.7 132.3 

Trade receivables (15) 4.4 0.7 

Lease and loan receivables (13) 9.0 40.0 

Income tax receivables (8) 0.1 0.1 

Other financial assets (16) 4.9 0.8 

Other non-financial assets (17) 42.6 45.6 

Cash and cash equivalents (18) 294.1 186.6 

Assets held for sale (19) 1,422.4 0.0 

Total assets   2,183.3 1,018.6 
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EUR m Note 31 Dec 2023 31 Dec 2022 

Equity   424.8 251.1 

Issued capital (19) 0.1 0.1 

Share premium (19) 492.3 293.0 

Other reserves (19) (1.6) 7.5 

Retained earnings (19) (63.4) (50.9) 

Equity allocable to the owners of Enpal B.V. (19) 427.4 249.7 

Non-controlling interests (19) (2.6) 1.3 

Non-current liabilities   191.3 534.9 

Convertible loan (20) 11.2 11.2 

Asset-backed loans (22) 126.0 493.8 

Lease liabilities (11) 24.7 5.3 

Provisions (23) 13.4 13.2 

Other financial liabilities (26)(28) 12.7 1.1 

Other non-financial liabilities (27) 0.4 1.4 

Deferred tax liabilities  (8) 2.9 8.8 

Current liabilities   1,567.3 232.7 

Bank loans (21) 67.7 41.5 

Asset-backed loans (22) 6.1 23.8 

Lease liabilities (11) 6.5 6.4 

Provisions (23) 1.7 4.5 

Trade payables (24) 108.6 98.3 

Supplier finance liabilities (25) 62.4 30.2 

Income tax liabilities (8) 3.8 2.3 

Other financial liabilities (26) 14.2 10.6 

Other non-financial liabilities (27) 32.6 15.2 

Liabilities held for sale (18) 1,263.9 0.0 

Total equity and liabilities   2,183.3 1,018.6 
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity for Financial Year 2023 

EUR m 
Issued 
capital 

Share 
premium 

Other reserves 
Retained 
earnings 

Shareholders 
of Enpal B.V. 

Non-
controlling 

interests 
Equity Cash flow 

hedges 
Currency 

translation 

1 January 2023 0.1 293.0 7.5 0.0 (50.9) 249.7 1.3 251.0 

Profit (loss) for the 
period 

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 (14.9) (14.9) (3.2) (18.1) 

Other comprehensive 
income 

0.0 0.0 (9.1) 0.1 0.0 (9.1) (0.8) (9.9) 

Comprehensive 
income 

0.0 0.0 (9.1) 0.1 (14.9) (24.0) (3.9) (27.9) 

Capital increase 0.0 208.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 208.0 0.0 208.0 

Transactions cost for 
capital increase  

0.0 (6.3) 0.0 0.0 0.0 (6.3) 0.0 (6.3) 

Conversion option 0.0 (2.4) 0.0 0.0 2.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 

31 December 2023 0.1 492.3 (1.7) 0.1 (63.4) 427.4 (2.6) 424.8 
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EUR m 
Issued 
capital 

Share 
premium 

Other reserves 
Retained 
earnings 

Shareholders 
of Enpal B.V. 

Non-
controlling 

interests 

Equity 

Cash flow 
hedges 

Currency 
translation 

 

1 January 2022 0.1 288.9 0.4 0 (61.4) 227.9 0.9 228.8 

Profit (loss) for the 
period 

0 0 0 0 14.4 14.4 0.7 15.1 

Other comprehensive 
income 

0 0 6.5 0 0 6.6 0.4 7.0 

Comprehensive 
income 

0 0 6.5 0 14.4 21.0 1.2 22.1 

Capital increase 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Transactions with 
shareholders 

0 0 0.6 0 0.2 0.8 (0.8) 0 

Conversion option 0 4.1 0 0 (4.1) 0 0 0 

31 December 2022 0.1 293.0 7.5 0 (50.9) 249.7 1.3 251.0 
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement for Financial Year 2023 

EUR m 2023 2022 

Profit (loss) for the period (18.1) 15.1 

Adjustments for:   

Amortization / depreciation of intangible assets, property, plant 
and equipment and right-of-use assets  

18.4 6.4 

Non-cash expenses from share-based payments 2.6 7.2 

Other non-cash income/expenses 2.5 0.0 

Financial result and operating finance costs 12.7 13.4 

Income taxes 3.8 (6.6) 

Decrease/(increase) of lease receivables (801.5) (403.7) 

Decrease/(increase) of inventories (51.4) (100.1) 

Decrease/(increase) of trade receivables (3.6) 0.4 

Decrease/(increase) of other assets (48.0) (34.4) 

Increase/(decrease) of trade payables 21.2 84.5 

Increase/(decrease) of supplier finance liabilities 19.2 18.1 

Increase/(decrease) of other liabilities 46.1 19.3 

Increase/(decrease) of provisions (2.8) 4.9 

Income taxes paid (2.5) 0.0 

Net cash outflow from operating activities (801.3) (375.4) 

Cash paid for investments in property, plant and equipment (24.4) (13.0) 

Cash paid for investments in intangible assets (4.7) (1.7) 

Payments for acquisition of convertible loan (2.0) 0.0 

Payments for acquisition of shares (2.0) 0.0 

Payments of transaction costs for sale of financing companies (0.6) 0.0 

Cash paid for security deposits (0.2) (0.7) 

Repayment of security deposits 0.0 0.2 

Interest received 1.3 0.0 

Net cash outflow from investing activities (32.6) (15.2) 

Cash received from capital increases from the shareholders 208.0 0.0 

Cash paid for transaction costs of capital increases (9.0) (3.6) 

Cash paid for the acquisition of non-controlling interests 0.0 0.0 

Cash paid to settle the purchase liability for the acquisition of non-
controlling interests 

(0.1) (0.4) 
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Cash received from bank loans 26.1 29.6 

Cash received from issuing asset-backed loans 890.0 404.9 

Cash paid to redeem asset-backed loans (31.9) (15.4) 

Interest and borrowing costs paid for asset-backed loans (21.6) (22.9) 

Proceeds from other financing agreements 12.9 0.0 

Cash paid to service lease liabilities (9.4) (4.0) 

Other interest and borrowing costs paid (10.7) (4.4) 

Net cash inflow from financing activities 1,054.4 383.9 

Change in cash and cash equivalents due to exchange rate 
movements 

(1.0) (2.7) 

Other changes in cash and cash equivalents 2.9 (0.7) 

Transfer to disposal group (115.0) 0.0 

Change in cash and cash equivalents 107.6 (10.1) 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year* 186.6 196.7 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year* 294.1 186.6 

* this includes cash of EUR 12.2m (2022: EUR 29.2m) that is subject to restricted disposal. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for Financial 
Year 2023 

1 General Remarks  

Enpal GmbH changed its legal form effective 24 January 2023 to Enpal B.V. (“Enpal”). Enpal 
was founded in 2017, and its subsidiaries pursue the objective of supplying people with green 
energy. Enpal offers house-owners a rental model for photovoltaic systems, battery 
storages and electric vehicle charging systems as well as additional financing and 
purchasing options for photovoltaic systems, battery storages, electric vehicle charging 
systems and heat pumps. Enpal is based in Berlin, Germany, and is registered in the 
commercial register of Onbekend in the Netherlands under the number 89067363. The 
address of Enpal’s registered offices is Koppenstrasse 8, 10243 Berlin. 

These financial statements cover the year 2023, which ended at the reporting date of 
31 December 2023. The financial statements of Enpal have been prepared on the basis of 
the going concern assumptions. 

The financial information of Enpal is included in the consolidated financial statements. For 
this reason, in accordance with Section 402, Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code, the separate 
statement of profit or loss of Enpal solely states the share of the result of participating 
interests after tax and the other income and expenses after tax. For an appropriate 
interpretation of these statutory financial statements, the consolidated financial statements 
of the Enpal Group should be read in conjunction with the separate financial statements, as 
included under pages 72 to 96. 

The management report for the financial year is available for inspection at the office of 
Enpal B.V. in Berlin. A full or partial copy thereof will be provided to anyone upon request at 
no more than the cost price (Article 2:394(4) of the Dutch Civil Code). 

These consolidated financial statements were approved for publication by the executive 
directors of Enpal B.V. on 28 June 2024. 

2 Material Accounting Policies 

2.1 Basis of preparation 

The consolidated financial statements of Enpal are part of the statutory financial 
statements of Enpal. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as endorsed by the 
European Union and with Article 2:362(9) of the Dutch Civil Code. 

Individual line items in the statement of financial position have been condensed to aid the 
clarity of presentation. These are explained in the notes to the financial statements.  
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The consolidated financial statements are prepared on a historical cost basis unless stated 
otherwise in the accounting policies explained below. The consolidated statement of profit 
or loss included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income is classified using 
the function of expense (cost of sales) method. The financial year corresponds to the 
calendar year. The consolidated financial statements are prepared in Euro. All figures in the 
notes and the tables are denominated in million Euros unless otherwise stated. Both 
individual figures and sum totals are stated at the amount with the lowest rounding 
difference. For this reason, there could be small rounding differences in the sum totals and 
the stated percentage ratios could diverge marginally from the figures on which they are 
based. 

2.2 New and Amended Accounting Standards 

The following new or amended accounting standards issued by the IASB, some of which 
have not yet been endorsed by the EU, only apply to future financial reporting, assuming 
their endorsement by the EU. They have not been early adopted. 

Standard/Interpretation 

(as at 31 December 2023) 

Mandatory 
application for 
Enpal B.V. 

Endorsed by 
the EU  

Prospective 
implications 

IFRS 16 Sale and leaseback 
transactions 

1 Jan 2024 Yes No significant 
implications 

IAS 1 Classification of liabilities as 
current or non-current 

1 Jan 2024 Yes No significant 
implications 

IAS 1 Non-current liabilities with 
covenants 

1 Jan 2024 Yes No significant 
implications 

IAS 7/ 
IFRS 7 

Reverse factoring agreements 1 Jan 2024 No No significant 
implications 

IAS 21 Currency translation if currency 
is inconvertible 

1 Jan 2025 No No significant 
implications 

 

The consolidated financial statements consider all IFRSs that have been issued and become 
mandatory in the European Union on the reporting date. The amendments applying for the 
first time in the reporting year concern IAS 1, IAS 8, IFRS 9 and IFRS 17 specifies new accounting 
rules for insurance contracts. All of the amended IFRSs listed above have been mandatory 
since 1 January 2023. The adoption of the amended standards did not have any significant 
effect on the presentation of the financial position, financial performance and cash flows of 
Enpal or on the disclosures in the notes to the financial statements. 

In addition, a clarification to IAS 12 regards income taxes arising from tax law enacted or 
substantively enacted to implement the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and 
Development (OECD)/ G20 Inclusive Framework on Base Erosion and Profit Shifting (BEPS) 
Pillar Two model rules (Pillar Two income taxes) has been released. As an exception to the 
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requirements in IAS 12, it requires that an entity neither recognize nor disclose information 
about deferred tax assets and liabilities related to Pillar Two income taxes. This amendment 
was issued in May 2023 and therefore not part of our prior year’s description of new or 
amended IFRS. For further details on the application of this amendment see section 2.16 
Current and deferred taxes and for disclosures regarding Pillar two income taxes see section 
(8.) Income taxes. 

2.3 Consolidation 

Subsidiaries 

The consolidated financial statements include all subsidiaries of Enpal B.V. These are entities 
over whose financial and business policies the Group can exercise direct or indirect control. 
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated in the consolidated financial statements as at the date 
on which control is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated as at the date on 
which control is extinguished. 

The acquisition method is used to account for business combinations. The cost of the 
business combination corresponds to the fair value of the acquired assets, the equity 
instruments issued, and the liabilities incurred and assumed as at the date of acquisition. 
Identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities in the course of the business 
combination are measured initially at their fair values on the acquisition date, irrespective 
of the extent of any non-controlling interest. The difference between acquisition costs and 
the fair value of the net assets acquired that is allocable to the Group is recognized as 
goodwill. If the acquisition costs are lower than the fair value of the (allocable) net assets of 
the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognized directly in profit or loss after 
reexamination. After control has been obtained, any acquisitions of shares in subsidiaries 
are accounted for as equity transactions. The difference between the purchase price of the 
shares and the non-controlling interests that are thereby extinguished is directly offset 
against retained earnings. 

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealized profits on intercompany transactions 
are eliminated. The same applies to unrealized losses unless the transaction indicates an 
impairment of the underlying asset. The accounting policies of subsidiaries are amended 
where necessary to ensure that uniform accounting policies are exercised throughout the 
Group. 

Basis of consolidation 

The number of subsidiaries in the consolidated group rose from 40 to 52 in the financial year 
due to the formation of new companies. The changes to the basis of consolidation do not 
affect the comparability of the financial statements with the prior year.  
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The following table lists Enpal B.V.’s subsidiaries included in the consolidated financial 
statements as at 31 December 2023: 

Entity Registered offices Share in 
capital 

engea Wallbox GmbH * Berlin (Germany) 100% 

Enpal Albania Shpk Tirane (Albania) 100% 

Enpal Asset Management GmbH*  Berlin (Germany) 100% 

Enpal B.H. d.o.o. Sarajevo (Bosnia) 100% 

Enpal China Ltd. Shenzhen (China) 0%  

Enpal Dragon GmbH* Berlin (Germany) 100% 

Enpal Enablement GmbH* Berlin (Germany) 100% 

Enpal Energy GmbH* Berlin (Germany) 100% 

Enpal ezee Benefit GmbH** Berlin (Germany) 70% 

Enpal ezee Benefit II GmbH** Schönefeld (Germany) 100% 

Enpal ezee Benefit III GmbH** Berlin (Germany) 70% 

Enpal ezee GmbH** Berlin (Germany) 70% 

Enpal Field&Partner Sales GmbH* 
(Until 7 July 2023 Enpal Ident GmbH) 

Berlin (Germany) 100% 

Enpal Financial Services Deutschland GmbH  Berlin (Germany) 100% 

Enpal Financial Services Holding GmbH  Berlin (Germany) 100% 

Enpal Green Advantage GmbH** Schönefeld (Germany) 100% 

Enpal Green Advantage Holding GmbH** Schönefeld (Germany) 100% 

Enpal Green Future Holding GmbH** Schönefeld (Germany) 100% 

Enpal Green Future I GmbH** Schönefeld (Germany) 100% 

Enpal Green Innovations Holding GmbH** Berlin (Germany) 100% 

Enpal Green Innovations I GmbH** Berlin (Germany) 100% 

Enpal Green Solutions Holding GmbH** Schönefeld (Germany) 100% 

Enpal Green Solutions I GmbH** Schönefeld (Germany) 100% 

Enpal Green Technologies Holding GmbH** Berlin (Germany) 100% 

Enpal Green Technologies I GmbH** Berlin (Germany) 100% 

Enpal Green Vision GmbH** Schönefeld (Germany) 100% 

Enpal Green Vision Holding GmbH** Schönefeld (Germany) 100% 

Enpal Grid Operations GmbH* Berlin (Germany) 100% 

Enpal Installation Nord GmbH* Erfurt (Germany) 100% 

Enpal Installation Süd GmbH* Erfurt (Germany) 100% 
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Enpal Italia S.r.l. Milan (Italy) 100% 

Enpal Montage Berlin/Brandenburg GmbH* Blankenfelde-Mahlow (Germany)  100% 

Enpal Montage GmbH* Berlin (Germany) 100% 

Enpal Montage Hamburg GmbH* Hamburg (Germany) 100% 

Enpal Montage Hannover GmbH* Hannover (Germany) 100%  

Enpal Montage Köln GmbH* Troisdorf (Germany) 100% 

Enpal Montage Nürnberg GmbH* Ansbach (Germany) 100% 

Enpal Montage Rhein/Main GmbH* Mainz (Germany) 100% 

Enpal Planning GmbH*  Berlin (Germany) 100% 

Enpal Pro GmbH*  
(until 12 July 2023 Enpal Production GmbH) 

Berlin (Germany) 100% 

Enpal Sales Enablement GmbH* Berlin (Germany) 100% 

Enpal Sales GmbH* Berlin (Germany) 100% 

Enpal Sales NRW GmbH* Essen (Germany) 100%  

Enpal Sales Sachsen GmbH* Berlin (Germany) 100%  

Enpal Sales Support GmbH* Berlin (Germany) 100% 

Enpal Services GmbH* Berlin (Germany) 100% 

Enpal South Africa (PTY) Ltd. Cape Town (South Africa) 100% 

Enpal Supply Chain GmbH* Berlin (Germany) 100% 

Enpal Tech GmbH* Berlin (Germany) 100% 

Enpal24 GmbH* 
(until 5 October 2023 Enpal Sales 
Berlin/Brandenburg GmbH) 

Berlin (Germany) 100%  

Ezee Benefit GmbH** Geislingen (Germany) 70% 

Green Finance Solution SA** Luxembourg (Luxembourg) 0% 

* This entity exercises the exemption pursuant to Sec. 264 (3) HGB and has opted not to publish its financial 
statements. 

** This entity is not part of the operating subgroup. 

Control over Enpal China Ltd. and Green Finance Solution SA results from contractually 
secured rights. For this reason, these entities are fully consolidated despite the fact that the 
Group does not hold a majority of the voting rights. 

Foreign currency translation 

The functional currency is determined for each group entity. The functional currency is the 
currency of the primary economic environment in which the respective group entity 
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operates. Any business transactions of the respective group entities that are denominated 
in other currencies therefore qualify as foreign currency transactions. 

The functional currency of Enpal and the presentation currency of the Group, is the Euro. The 
financial statements of subsidiaries that use a different functional currency than the Euro, 
are translated to the presentation currency using the closing rate method. The assets and 
liabilities are translated into Euro at the closing rate. The line items of the statement of profit 
or loss are therefore translated into Euro using the average monthly exchange rate. The line 
items of equity are translated using the historical rate. Any difference arising in the 
statement of financial position from currency translation is posted to the foreign currency 
translation reserve. 

Foreign currency transactions are translated to the functional currency of the respective 
group entity using the applicable exchange rates on the date of the transaction. Monetary 
items denominated in a foreign currency are subsequently translated at the respective 
closing rate. Exchange differences arising from monetary items that constitute a portion of 
the net investment of Enpal in a foreign operation are posted to other comprehensive 
income and recycled through consolidated profit or loss upon disposal. Tax charges and 
tax benefits attributable to exchange differences on those monetary items are also 
considered in other comprehensive income. Any exchange differences arising from foreign 
currency transactions and the translation of monetary foreign currency items using the 
closing rate are posted through profit or loss as exchange gains or exchange losses under 
other operating income and other operating expenses. 

The following exchange rates were used for the consolidated financial statements: 

1 Euro = Closing rate Annual average rate 

 31 Dec 2023 31 Dec 2022 2023 2022 

CNY 7.85100 7.25820 7.65753 7.07880 

USD 1.10500 1.06660 1.08126 1.05300 

ZAR 20.34770  19.95510  

ALL 103.41262  108.59060  

BAM 1.95240  1.95655  

2.4 Disposal group classified as held-for-sale 

Disposal groups comprising assets and liabilities, are classified as held-for-sale if it is highly 
probable that they will be recovered primarily through sale rather than through continuing 
use.  

Such disposal groups are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less 
costs to sell. Any impairment loss on a disposal group is allocated to the remaining assets 
and liabilities on a pro rata basis, except that no loss is allocated to inventories, financial 
assets or deferred tax assets, which continue to be measured in accordance with the 
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Group’s other accounting policies. Impairment losses on initial classification as held-for sale 
and subsequent gains and losses on remeasurement are recognized in profit or loss.  

2.5 Intangible Assets 

Intangible assets of Enpal include internally generated intangible assets and other 
intangible assets. 

Internally generated intangible assets 

Internally generated intangible assets at Enpal comprise of software developments. The 
related expenses qualify for recognition from the date on which the recognition criteria for 
development expenses are met cumulatively: (1) technical feasibility of completing the 
development project must be reasonably certain, (2) there is an intention to complete the 
asset so that it will be available for use or sale, (3) the ability to use the asset and the nature 
of its future economic benefits can be demonstrated, (4) the resources required to 
complete the development project are available and (5) the intangible asset can be reliably 
measured. 

The development expenses recognized as internally developed intangible assets include 
directly allocable personnel expenses and project-related third-party services. Internally 
generated intangible assets are amortized on a straight-line basis over their expected 
useful life commencing on the date on which the asset can be used. An impairment test is 
conducted if there are indications of possible impairment. Internally generated intangible 
assets that are not yet ready for use are subject to an annual impairment test. The residual 
life of internally generated intangible assets that are already in use ranges between 
6 months and 3 years. Amortization is charged to the cost of sales. 

Other intangible assets 

Intangible assets acquired for a consideration are recognized at acquisition cost and 
amortized on a straight-line basis over their respective useful lives. An impairment test is 
conducted if there are indications of possible impairment. Intangible assets with an 
indefinite useful life are tested for impairment once a year. Other intangible assets with an 
indefinite useful life at Enpal include license fees for the Enpal domain. Acquired software 
and licenses included under other intangible assets have useful lives ranging between 3 
and 5 years. Amortization is charged to administrative expenses. 

2.6 Property, Plant and Equipment 

The property, plant and equipment of the Enpal Group consists primarily of smart electricity 
meters, safety scaffolding, tools, computer hardware and other office equipment. These 
items are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. 
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Depreciation is recorded on a straight-line basis over the following useful lives, considering 
the respective residual value: 

Smart electricity meters:  8 years 

Safety scaffolding: 11 years 

Tools:  10 years 

Computer hardware: 3 years 

Other office equipment: 5 years 

The residual values and residual useful lives of these items are reviewed each reporting date 
and adjusted as necessary. 

Subsequent costs are only recognized if it is probable that they will result in future economic 
benefits for the Enpal Group. All other repairs and maintenance are expensed through profit 
or loss in the financial year in which they incurred. 

Gains and losses upon the disposal of property, plant and equipment are calculated as the 
difference between their carrying amount and the proceeds upon disposal and posted to 
other operating income or other operating expenses. 

2.7 Leases 

A lease is a contract that conveys the right to use an identifiable asset for a certain period 
of time in exchange for consideration. A right to use an identifiable asset can be embedded 
in many different kinds of contract, such as rental agreements, leases and contracts for 
services. The formal title of the contract is not relevant. Enpal enters into leases as both 
lessor and lessee. 

2.8 Enpal as a Lessee 

Enpal is a lessee in a number of leases for offices, warehouses, vehicles, IT hardware and 
office equipment. The contracts generally include options to terminate or prolong the lease 
which provide Enpal with the flexibility to modify the use and the lease portfolio to the needs 
of the Group. 

Enpal recognizes and measures all leases (with the exception of short-term leases and 
leases for low-value assets) using the right-of-use model. This involves the recognition of a 
lease liability for the obligation to make lease payments and the recognition of a right-of-
use asset for the right to use the underlying asset.  

The practical expedient provided by IFRS 16.5 is applied to leases of low-value assets and 
short-term leases of less than twelve months. Correspondingly, the right-of-use asset and 
the lease liability are not recognized in these cases. Rather, the payments are expensed as 
incurred in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 
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Right-of-use assets  

Enpal recognizes right-of-use assets from the date on which the underlying asset is 
available for use (commencement date). Right-of-use assets are carried at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. The cost of right-of-use assets includes 
the recognized lease liabilities, the initial direct costs incurred, and the lease payments 
made at or before the commencement date, less any lease incentives received. Right-of-
use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term or the 
expected useful life of the lease:  

Offices :     7 months - 6 years 

Warehouses:     1 – 5 years 

Vehicles:     1 - 4 years 

IT hardware:     2 - 3 years  

When ownership to a leased asset passes to the Group at the end of the lease term or the 
exercise of a purchase option has been considered in the costs, depreciation is recorded 
over the estimated useful life of the leased asset.  

The lease agreements, in which Enpal acts as lessee, do not contain any obligation to 
dismantle and remove the underlying asset, restore the site upon which it is located or to 
return the asset to a certain condition.  

Lease liabilities  

On the commencement date, Enpal recognizes the lease liabilities at the net present value 
of the outstanding lease payments to be made over the term of the lease. Lease payments 
include fixed and de facto fixed payments less any lease incentives to be received, variable 
lease payments linked to an index or (interest) rate, and amounts expected to be paid under 
residual value guarantees. Lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase 
option if it is reasonably certain that the Group will actually exercise it, and penalty 
payments for termination of the lease if the term is measured after taking into account that 
the Group will exercise the termination option. Variable lease payments that are not linked 
to an index or interest rate are expensed in the period in which the condition triggering 
payment occurs. 

The Group applies its incremental borrowing rate on the commencement date when 
discounting lease payments to present value as the interest rate implicit in the lease cannot 
be readily determined. Subsequent to the commencement date, the lease liability is rolled 
forward using the effective interest rate method. The carrying amount of lease liabilities is 
remeasured upon any modifications to the lease, a change in the lease term, changes in 
lease payments (e.g., changes in future lease payments as a result of a change in the index 
or interest rate used to determine those payments), or a change in the assessment of a 
purchase option for the underlying asset.  
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The current portion of lease liabilities is determined by the payments of principal contained 
in the lease payments for the coming twelve months. 

2.9 Enpal as Lessor and Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

Enpal generates revenue by leasing out photovoltaic systems which result in the collection 
of monthly payments over a period of 20 years. Customers can also elect to rent a battery 
storages and/or an electric vehicle charging system. Moreover, they can choose to retrofit 
a battery storage and/or an electric vehicle charging system at a later date. The lease is 
always entered into in combination with a service contract. As these contracts are 
negotiated as a bundle and signed simultaneously, they are treated as one contractual 
framework. However, as the contractual framework contains a number of performance 
obligations, it is split into a lease and multiple service components, which are accounted for 
separately as described below. The lease component falls within the scope of IFRS 16 
whereby the service components fall within the scope of IFRS 15. This results in different 
revenue recognition for the components. The agreed consideration is allocated to the lease 
and the service components on the basis of the relative standalone selling prices, which are 
based on the expected costs plus an appropriate margin.  

Furthermore, Enpal offers an installment purchase contract to customers through which a 
photovoltaic system and if chosen by the customer a battery storage and/or an electric 
vehicle charging system is sold to the customer in combination with a financing solution 
(“loan”). Both, the sale and the financing component are in the scope of IFRS 15 and 
constitute two separate performance obligation. Customers can elect to enter into a 
separate service contract, which is treated as a separate contract under IFRS 15. 

Lease of photovoltaic systems, battery storages and electric vehicle charging systems 

The rental contract of the photovoltaic systems and, if chosen by the customer, battery 
storage and/or electric vehicle charging systems constitutes a finance lease in the form of 
a manufacturer lease pursuant to IFRS 16. By entering into the lease with Enpal, the customer, 
as the lessee, obtains the right, in return for payment of consideration over the term of the 
lease, to control the use of the photovoltaic system, the battery storage and electric vehicle 
charging system. 

On the commencement date of the lease, Enpal recognizes a lease receivable in an amount 
equal to its net investment in the lease. A lessor’s net investment in the lease is the gross 
investment in the lease discounted at the interest rate implicit in the lease. In contrast to 
regular finance leases, Enpal does not consider any incremental costs associated with 
obtaining the contract when measuring its net investment in the lease, but rather expenses 
the share of these payments attributable to the lease components (e.g. employee 
commission) directly through profit or loss. In addition, discounts and bonus payments are 
granted to the customer, which are allocated to the lease and service component in relation 
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to the transaction price. Any discount specific to a discount period is only allocated to the 
discount period.  

On the commencement date Enpal recognizes the following in connection with the lease 
component: 

- Revenue at the fair value of the leased assets, i.e. the photovoltaic system, battery 
storage and electric vehicle charging system or, if lower, at the present value of the 
lease payments 

- Cost of sales at the historical cost of the system, and 
- Any gain or loss on sale equal to the difference between revenue and the cost of 

sale. 

Subsequent to the commencement date, Enpal accounts for the lease components as 
follows:  

- Interest income contained in the lease receivable is recognized in operating finance 
income over the term of the lease and therefore reported under revenue. 

- The net investment in the lease is reduced by any lease payments received less the 
imputed interest income. 

- Impairments of the net investment in the lease, and any expected credit losses in 
particular, are posted to selling expenses. 

The lessee has the option to buy the photovoltaic system, the battery storage and the 
electric vehicle charging system. Based on observable market data, Enpal assumes that 
most customers will exercise this option upon expiry of the lease. Enpal assumes that only a 
small percentage of the customers will exercise the option during the term of the lease 
except in the first months in which Enpal offers a reduced purchase price since the current 
financial year. If a customer decides not to exercise the purchase option at the end of the 
term of the lease, Enpal has an obligation to dismantle the photovoltaic system, battery 
storage and electric vehicle charging system (see the comments on dismantling 
obligations). Since this financial year Enpal charges a fee to the customer for dismantling 
the system. 

Service components 

The portion of the consideration that is attributable to service components is recognized as 
revenue in accordance with IFRS 15. The relative standalone selling price of each individual 
component is calculated at the sales price that a third party is expected to pay for such a 
service. The services comprise the provision of maintenance and repair services for the 
photovoltaic systems, battery storages and electric vehicle charging systems, including a 
right granted to the customer to replace the battery storage if it loses more than 30% of its 
storage capacity or the electric vehicle charging system if its functionality is impaired.  

The repair and maintenance service is an obligation for a series of distinct goods or services, 
which is recognized on a straight-line basis over time over the full term of the contract. This 
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gives rise to contract assets as the first date of payment does not necessarily coincide with 
the inception of the contract. There are no contract liabilities associated with this 
performance obligation. 

The performance obligations to replace the battery storage and/or electric vehicle charging 
system qualify as service-type warranties. The obligations are performed over time with the 
progress of completion being calculated on the basis of inputs. As a result, the revenue 
associated with the service-type warranties is recognized in full on the date on which the 
replacement is made. The customer payments for these performance obligations are 
recognized as contract liabilities from the inception of the lease. Upon replacement of the 
battery or electric vehicle charging system, the associated contract liability is derecognized 
through profit or loss and a trade receivable is recognized for the outstanding right to 
receive payment until the end of the lease term. The trade receivable is subsequently 
reduced by the amount of the monthly lease payments allocable to the respective 
component. During the term of the lease, Enpal reviews the contract liabilities to determine 
whether a replacement is unlikely, and revenue should be recognized. 

Minor maintenance work on photovoltaic systems, battery storage systems or electric 
vehicle charging systems is borne by the customer on a case-by-case basis. Such charges 
only need to be paid by the customer once the work has actually been performed. 
Consequently, these payments are not considered in the initial transaction price. 

Sale of photovoltaic systems, battery storages and electric vehicle charging systems in 
combination with a financing agreement (“loan”)  

The transaction price is allocated to the sale of the photovoltaic system, battery storage 
and electric vehicle charging system and the significant financing component. The amount 
is determined by discounting the customers payments using a discount rate that reflects 
the customer’s creditworthiness. The discounted amount reflects the transaction price for 
the sale of the photovoltaic system, battery storages and electric vehicle charging system.  

The selling price of the photovoltaic system including battery storage and electric vehicle 
charging system is recognized as revenue when control of the photovoltaic system transfers 
to the customer. A loan receivable towards the customer is recognized in the same amount. 
Enpal accounts for the loan receivable in accordance with IFRS 9. Interest income is shown 
separately from revenue from contracts with customers in accordance with IFRS 15. Since 
the interest income is part of Enpal's ordinary business activities, the interest income is 
presented as revenues and separately disclosed in the notes 

Sale of heat pumps and materials to installers 

Revenue is recognized when control of the asset is transferred to the customer, typically 
upon delivery or final acceptance by the customer. The transaction price is based on the 
consideration specified in the contract less rebates and discounts. 
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Electricity supply contracts 

Enpal generates revenue from electricity supply contracts with customers. According to 
IFRS 15, these constitute a performance obligation to supply a series of goods or services as 
the contract does not set a defined volume of power. Rather, Enpal agrees to supply 
electricity to the customer at the previously arranged terms and conditions. The contracts 
may generally be terminated by both parties at the end of any month upon notice of four 
weeks. Revenue is recognized on a monthly basis.  

Contract balances 

Incremental costs of obtaining contracts 

Enpal grants commission to its employees if they are successful at concluding a customer 
contract. In addition, payments are made to existing customers or others if they attract new 
customers. The portion of the costs that is allocable to the service obligations is recognized 
as non-financial asset and amortized over the contractual term of 20 years. The 
amortization is charged to selling expenses. The portion that is allocable to the lease 
component qualifies as incremental costs of obtaining a contract, which, in the case of 
manufacturer leases, are recognized as selling expenses as incurred. The incremental costs 
of obtaining a contract are presented under non-financial assets.  

Contract assets  

A contract asset is recognized when Enpal satisfies its contractual performance obligations, 
the customer has not yet paid the consideration and the due date of the receivable is tied 
to other conditions. Contract assets at Enpal arise as there is a timing difference between 
the payment by the customer and the performance of the contractual obligation. Contract 
assets are presented within non-financial assets and are tested for impairment (see the 
notes on the impairment of financial assets).  

Trade receivables  

A receivable is recognized when Enpal obtains an unconditional right to receive 
consideration from a customer, i.e. the due date will automatically arise over the course of 
time. As described above, trade receivables at Enpal arise as a result of the replacement of 
battery storage systems and electric vehicle charging systems at the amount of 
contractual performance obligation rendered. No such balances are recorded to date. 

Contract liabilities  

A contract liability is recognized when a customer makes a payment, or the payment falls 
due (depending on which event comes first) before Enpal has rendered the good or service 
to the customer. Contract liabilities are recognized as revenue as soon as Enpal has satisfied 



 

Annual Report | Consolidated Financial Statements |   25 

its contractual performance obligations. As described above, a contract liability at Enpal is 
recognized in connection with the right to have battery storage systems and electric vehicle 
charging systems replaced. The contract liability rises by the amount of the monthly 
consideration and is posted to revenue upon replacement of the battery storage system or 
electric vehicle charging system. 

2.10 Impairment of Intangible Assets, Property, Plant and Equipment and Right-of-Use 
Assets 

Intangible assets with definite useful lives, property, plant and equipment and right-of-use 
assets are tested for impairment whenever circumstances or events indicate that their 
carrying amount is possibly not recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized at the 
amount by which the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. The 
latter corresponds to the higher of the asset’s fair value less cost of disposal and the 
discounted net cash flows from its continuing use (value in use). When testing an asset for 
impairment, assets are combined at the smallest cash-generating unit for which cash flows 
can be identified that are generally independent of those generated by the rest of the Enpal 
Group.  

In the case of a reversal of an impairment, the carrying amount of the asset is written back 
up but may not exceed amortized cost. Impairment losses recognized on goodwill are never 
reversed. 

2.11 Inventories 

Inventories comprise raw materials, consumables and supplies as well as work in progress. 
Photovoltaic systems, battery storage systems, electric vehicle charging systems and heat 
pumps are recognized under work in progress when assembly has begun but has not yet 
been completed. Inventories are recognized at the lower of cost and net realizable value. 
Cost is measured at annual weighted average prices. In addition to directly allocable costs, 
the historical cost of work in progress includes an appropriate portion of production 
overheads assuming normal utilization of capacity. Borrowing costs are not recognized. 

Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less 
estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs to complete the sale.  

2.12 Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise current bank deposits denominated in EUR and USD, 
cash on hand and investments in money market funds with top ratings that have a residual 
term of no more than three months on the date of acquisition, can be readily liquidated and 
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. In addition, this line item contains 
cash and cash equivalents that are subject to restricted disposal. 
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2.13 Provisions 

Provisions are recognized when a past event gives rise to a present legal or constructive 
obligation, the settlement of which is more likely than not to lead to an outflow of future 
economic resources. It must be possible to reliably measure the amount of the obligation. 
Provisions are recognized at their expected settlement amount. Non-current provisions are 
discounted using a discount rate that properly reflects the associated risks. 

If Enpal expects a refund (e.g. from insurance indemnification) it recognizes the right to the 
refund as a separate asset provided the refund is almost certain to be collected. 

Enpal recognizes provisions for the costs of dismantling photovoltaic systems, battery 
storages and electric vehicle charging systems for customer contracts which offer 
dismantling by Enpal at no charge. The provision is measured at the present value of the 
estimated future dismantling costs. The expected dismantling costs are included in the cost 
of sales. The estimated future cash outflows are discounted using a discount rate that is 
commensurate to the terms and risks. The discount is unwound in the period in which the 
expense is incurred and posted to other finance cost. 

Warranty provisions are recognized at the amount of the undiscounted warranty costs 
expected to incur in the future. The costs are reported under cost of sales. 

Provisions are recognized for potential losses on pending contracts in the case of onerous 
contracts, where the unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations under the contract 
exceed the economic benefits expected to be received from it. They are recognized at the 
lower of the net cost incurred to fulfill the contract or any compensation to be paid or 
penalties arising from the failure to fulfill it. The expected costs are reported under 
administrative expenses 

2.14 Share-Based Payments 

Selected employees are offered cash-settled virtual share option rights. A liability is 
recognized at the fair value of the cash-settled liability and presented in provisions. Upon 
their initial grant date, the fair value of the virtual share options is expensed on a pro rata 
temporis basis over the employee’s period of service. They are posted to either the cost of 
sales, selling expenses or administrative expenses depending on the function to which the 
employee is allocated. The cost of virtual share options issued to third parties is recognized 
under other operating expenses. The fair value of the liability is remeasured every reporting 
date. Consequently, the liability presented at each reporting date always corresponds to 
the pro rata earned portion of the estimated fair value of the virtual share options.  

2.15 Financial Instruments 

Financial instruments are contracts that give rise to a financial asset at one party to the 
contract and a financial liability or equity instrument at the other party. Enpal recognizes 
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regular way purchases and sales of non-derivative financial assets on the settlement date 
and derivatives on the trading date.  

Financial assets 

Upon initial recognition, financial assets are allocated to one of the following three 
categories: 

• Financial assets measured at amortized cost  
• Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income  
• Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss 

They are classified on the basis of the business model and the nature of their cash flows. 

Financial assets are measured at amortized cost when they are held with the objective of 
collecting contractual cash flows and the cash flows of the financial asset constitute solely 
payments of principal and interest. At Enpal trade receivables, other financial assets (except 
derivatives) and cash and cash equivalents (except money market funds) are allocated to 
this measurement category. 

A financial asset is measured at fair value through other comprehensive income when it is 
held with the objectives of collecting contractual cash flows and for sale, and the cash flows 
of the financial asset constitute solely payments of principal and interest. As at the reporting 
date Enpal does not carry any such financial assets. Consequently, no debt instruments are 
allocated to this category. 

An equity instrument can also be allocated at fair value through other comprehensive 
income if, in the individual case, the reporting entity has irrevocably elected to allocate them 
to this category upon initial recognition. Upon disposal of such financial assets, the 
accumulated profits or losses recorded in other comprehensive income are not recycled 
through the consolidated statement of profit or loss. Within the Enpal Group, there are no 
equity instruments allocated to this category.  

All financial assets that do not meet the above criteria are measured at fair value through 
profit or loss. At Enpal these instruments are represented by investments, convertible loan 
investments in other companies, derivative foreign currency instruments and investments 
in money market funds. Changes in the fair value of these financial assets are recognized 
through profit and loss. Other than foreign currency instruments, Enpal does not hold 
derivative financial instruments (including embedded derivatives) that are not in an 
effective designated hedge.  

Financial assets are derecognized when the contractual right to the cash flows from an 
asset expire or the Group has transferred the right to receive the cash flows and 
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership attached to the financial asset. Any 
differences arising upon derecognition are posted through profit or loss.  
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The allocation to the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of inputs that is 
significant for measuring fair value in its entirety:  

• Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities  
• Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices that are observable, either directly or 

indirectly, and are material to the measurement of an asset or liability 
• Level 3: at least one input factor is unobservable 

Any reclassification between the levels of the hierarchy is performed on the reporting date. 

Impairment of financial assets 

Each reporting date Enpal measures the expected credit losses from financial assets 
measured at amortized cost looking forward. 

Expected credit losses on lease and loan receivables are separated into two measurement 
bases. If there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition of the 
financial asset, the expected credit losses are considered on the basis of the possible 
default events within the next 12 months. For those financial assets where there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition of the financial asset, expected 
credit losses are measured over the residual lifetime of the lease receivables. The Enpal 
Group considers the credit risk of a financial asset to have increased significantly if at least 
one lease installment is more than 30 days past due. 

With regard to the remaining trade receivables, other financial assets and cash and cash 
equivalents, Enpal recognizes a valuation allowance for expected credit losses.  

The measurement of expected credit losses is a function of the probability of default (PD), 
the loss given default (LGD) and the exposure at default (EAD). When calculating expected 
credit losses, the Group applies the specific probabilities of default specific to the operation 
as determined by recognized providers of market data. If such data is not available, the 
Group derives the probabilities of default from historical data and makes adjustments for 
the respective risks attached to the corresponding receivables. Credit losses are thus 
determined on a historic basis and adjusted to reflect any forward-looking information. 

In certain cases, the Group considers a financial asset to have defaulted if internal or 
external information indicates that the Group is unlikely to collect the outstanding 
payments. The Enpal Group considers a default of lease or loan receivables if at least one 
installment is more than 120 days past due. The respective lease or loan receivables are 
considered to be credit-impaired. 

Classification of financial instruments as equity 

Instruments that cannot be settled by equity instruments of the entity and do not give rise 
to a contractual obligation to deliver cash or another financial asset or to exchange 
financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity under conditions that are 
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potentially unfavorable, are classified as equity. The equity instruments issued by the Group 
are measured at the proceeds received upon their issue less any directly allocable costs 
associated with the issue. 

Financial liabilities 

Upon initial recognition, financial liabilities are separated into two categories: 

• Financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss 
• Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost 

Liabilities allocated to the category of financial liabilities measured at fair value through 
profit or loss include liabilities that are held for trading such as derivatives (including 
embedded derivatives) that are not a component of a designated hedge and contingent 
consideration on business combinations.  

Enpal entered into direct marketing agreements with certain customers (“Direct Marketing 
Agreements”). Under these agreements Enpal has the obligation to buy surplus electricity 
produced by the customer for a period of 2-4 years at a fixed price over the contract period. 
These agreements form derivative financial instruments under IFRS 9 as the contracts can 
be fulfilled by net payments and the “own use exemption” under IFRS 9.2.4 is not applicable. 
Financial liabilities from these contracts are measured at fair value. The initial recognition is 
recognized under selling expenses.  

All other financial liabilities are allocated to the measurement category of financial liabilities 
measured at amortized cost. They are initially recognized at fair value less any associated 
transaction costs. Subsequently, they are measured at amortized cost using the effective 
interest method. 

Any gain or loss arising from subsequent measurement is posted to profit or loss. Financial 
liabilities are derecognized if the contractual obligations have been satisfied or have 
expired. In the event of changes to the conditions of a contract, such as a prolongation of 
the contractual term, the Enpal Group reviews whether such changes substantially modify 
the terms and conditions of the contract. If this is the case, the financial liability is 
derecognized and a new financial liability is recognized in its place. The difference between 
the carrying amount of the original liability and the fair value of the new liability is posted 
through profit or loss along with any transaction costs.  

Enpal has issued a convertible loan. The conversion option granted to the creditors is 
accounted for separately from the underlying liability. If the conversion price is variable, the 
option is recognized as a derivative liability at fair value through profit or loss. If the 
conversion price is fixed, the conversion option meets the criteria for recognition as equity. 
The underlying liability is recognized at amortized cost. If an amendment to a contract 
qualifies as a significant modification of the convertible loan, the former liability and 
conversion option are derecognized, and the convertible loan is remeasured at the changed 
terms and conditions.  
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Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting 

Upon initial recognition, derivative financial instruments and separable embedded 
derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value. They are allocated to fair value 
through profit or loss unless they are a component of a designated hedge.  

Enpal uses interest swaps to hedge against interest exposures from liabilities and 
designates these as cash flow hedges. In addition, Enpal uses interest swaps to hedge 
against interest exposures from loan receivables. The effective portion of gains or losses 
from changes in the fair value of the hedging instrument are posted to the cash flow hedge 
reserve under other comprehensive income while the ineffective portion is expensed 
immediately through profit or loss together with the borrowing costs for the asset-backed 
loans under operating finance costs. The cash flow hedge reserve is adjusted to reflect the 
lower of accumulated gain or loss on the hedging instrument and the accumulated change 
in the fair value of the underlying. 

Within the framework of its risk management, the Enpal Group has formally set and 
documented its objectives and strategies to reduce the risk of using cash flow hedges. 

Offsetting of financial instruments 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset, and the net amount reported in the 
consolidated statement of financial position if there is a currently legally enforceable right 
to set off the recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or to 
liquidate the assets and settle the related liabilities simultaneously. The legally enforceable 
right may not be contingent upon future events and must be exercisable by any of the 
counterparties, both in the normal course of business and in the event of default, insolvency 
or bankruptcy.  

2.16 Finance Income and Finance Costs  

Finance income represents foreign currency gains, dividends received from investments to 
money market funds and fair value changes from investments to money market funds. 
Finance costs represent interests other than interests for asset-backed-finance 
agreements. Finance costs include non-recurring costs for asset-backed-finance 
agreements, such as prepayment penalties or consent fees.  

2.17 Current and Deferred Taxes 

The income tax expense contains both current and deferred taxes. Taxes are recognized in 
the statement of profit or loss unless they relate to items that are recognized either directly 
in equity or in other comprehensive income. In this case, the taxes are recognized in equity 
or other comprehensive income respectively. 
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Current taxes are calculated applying the tax legislation that has been enacted as at the 
reporting date in those countries where the group entities operate and generate taxable 
income. Enpal regularly reviews its tax returns, particularly with regard to matters that are 
subject to interpretation and recognizes liabilities at the amount that is expected to be 
transferred to the tax authorities, if appropriate and more likely than not to eventuate. 

Deferred taxes are recognized for all temporary differences between the tax base of the 
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts. If deferred taxes on temporary differences 
arise in the course of a transaction that is not a business combination from the initial 
recognition of an asset or liability and the transaction is recognized outside of profit or loss, 
then the taxes are not deferred on the date of initial recognition nor thereafter. The tax rates 
used to calculate deferred taxes are those that will apply on the date on which the 
temporary differences are likely to reverse, or the unused tax loss utilized. This does not apply 
to tax law enacted or substantively enacted to implement the Pillar Two model rules 
published by the OECD. Therefore, we neither recognize nor disclose information about 
deferred tax assets and liabilities related to Pillar Two income taxes. 

Deferred tax assets are only recognized to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit 
will be available against which the deductible temporary difference or unused tax loss can 
be utilized.  

Deferred tax liabilities that arise with regard to temporary differences associated with 
investments in subsidiaries and associates are recognized unless the timing of the reversal 
of the temporary differences can be controlled by the Group and it is probable that the 
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future due to this influence. 

Deferred tax receivables and liabilities are offset if there is an enforceable legal right to set 
off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and the 
deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on either the 
same taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend to settle on a net basis. 

IFRIC 23 clarifies the application of the recognition and measurement requirements of IAS 12 
when there is uncertainty about the income tax treatment. For recognition and 
measurement, estimates and assumptions must be made, e.g. whether an estimate is 
made separately or together with other uncertainties, a most likely amount or expected 
amount for the uncertainty is used and whether changes have occurred compared to the 
previous period. The risk of detection from tax authorities is irrelevant for the recognition of 
uncertain balance sheet items. Accounting is based on the assumption that the tax 
authorities are investigating the matter in question and that they have all relevant 
information at their disposal. 
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3 Significant Accounting Judgments, Estimates and Assumptions 

All estimates and judgments are reassessed on an ongoing basis and are based on past 
experience and other factors, including the expectations of future events that appear 
reasonable given the circumstances.  

Enpal makes forward-looking estimates and assumptions. By nature, actual events in the 
future only match the estimates in exceedingly rare situations. Estimates and assumptions 
that bear a significant risk of subsequent adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below: 

Classification of leases (Enpal as lessor) 

The lease arrangement involving the lease of photovoltaic systems and, if chosen by the 
customer, battery storages and/or electric vehicle charging systems is classified as a 
manufacturer lease as the customer controls the use of the photovoltaic system, battery 
storage and electric vehicle charging system, the 20-year term of lease covers the majority 
of the economic life of the asset, the present value of the lease payments at the inception 
of the lease equals the fair value of the photovoltaic system, battery storage and electric 
vehicle charging system, and the photovoltaic systems are installed specifically for the 
customer. Enpal controls the entire production process of the customer-specific 
photovoltaic systems and therefore qualifies as the manufacturer in accordance with IFRS 
16. 

Standalone selling price and allocation of discounts 

The transaction price is broken down into the lease and the service components. The lease 
payments are allocated to the components on the basis of their relative standalone prices 
which are derived from the arm’s length prices that a third party would be expected to pay 
for the component. The assessment of the standalone prices affects the amount of revenue 
as revenue attributable to each performance obligation is recognized at different points in 
time. 

Term of leases (Enpal as lessee) 

Leases for offices, warehouses, fleet of vehicles and IT hardware contain significant options. 
Both on the commencement date and in the event of any significant changes to the 
underlying facts and circumstances, Enpal makes a discretionary judgment as to whether 
it is sufficiently probable that an option to prolong a lease will be exercised or an option to 
terminate will not be exercised. Enpal considers all relevant facts and circumstances which 
provide Enpal, as the lessee, an incentive to exercise or not exercise the option (e.g. 
significant tenant improvements, business strategies and business decisions, etc.). To the 
extent that a lease can be terminated at any time by either the lessor or the lessee without 
more than an insignificant disadvantage (in the form of penalties or vacant property) being 
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incurred by the lessor, the term of the lease beyond the earliest possible date of termination 
is not considered. 

Incremental borrowing rate (Enpal as lessee) 

Enpal is not able to readily determine the interest rate implicit in a lease and therefore 
applies its incremental borrowing rate when measuring its lease liabilities. The incremental 
borrowing rate is the rate of interest that Enpal would have to pay to borrow over a similar 
term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value 
in a similar economic environment. Enpal estimates its incremental borrowing rate using a 
risk-free rate and the probability of default. The risk-free rate is determined by reference to 
the corresponding interest curves for government bonds, which therefore also consider the 
country risks. The probability of default is determined by reference to the bank ratings. From 
this starting point, the risk attached to the terms of the instruments is measured by referring 
to European corporate bonds issued by a peer group (denominated in EUR). 

Fair value of share-based payment liabilities 

The calculation of the fair value of share-based payments requires the use of a suitable 
valuation technique. Enpal applies the Black-Scholes model to determine the value of its 
virtual share options. This assessment involves determining the most suitable input 
parameters for the valuation technique to measure the value of the shares, e.g. the 
anticipated volatility of the share prices and the likelihood and timing of any bonus paid 
upon an exit. A back-Solve model has been applied in order to determine the value of the 
common shares considering the liquidation preferences. 

Fair value of convertible loan components 

For the valuation of the convertible loan including its debt and equity component, Enpal 
applies common options pricing models. Part of the model inputs are non-observable and 
subject to estimation, such as Enpal’s share price, the share price volatility and Enpal’s credit 
spread. 

Expected credit losses on lease receivables 

Assessing expected credit losses on lease receivables is subject to estimation uncertainty. 
These primarily relate to the probability of default, the loss given default and any 
adjustments due to forward-looking information. 

Measurement of net realizable value of inventory 

Materials that are returned to the warehouses might have a net realizable value below cost. 
The estimate of the net realizable value is based on past experience and reflects the 
estimated price on any secondary market to the extent materials cannot be used anymore. 
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Recognition of deferred tax assets on tax loss carryforwards 

The recognition and measurement of deferred tax assets related to tax loss carryforwards 
require significant judgment due to the inherent uncertainty associated with future taxable 
profits. Management's assessment involves a careful evaluation of historical and projected 
financial performance, business strategies and plans, the legal and regulatory environment, 
external factors, and tax planning strategies. Any changes in these factors may result in 
adjustments to the carrying amount of deferred tax assets and impact the financial 
statements. 

Allocation of the transaction price for sales in combination with a financing agreement 
(“loan”) 

The transaction price is allocated to the sale of the photovoltaic system, battery storage 
and electric vehicle charging system and the significant financing component. The amount 
is determined by discounting the customers payments using a discount rate that reflects 
the customer’s creditworthiness. Determining the discount rate requires judgement. Enpal 
uses externally available scores in order to determine the discount rate.  

Recognition of financial liabilities in connection with direct marketing agreements  

The measurement of financial liabilities in connection with direct marketing agreements 
require significant judgement due to unobservable parameters used in determining the fair 
value. These include the estimated amount of surplus produced by the customer, which is 
subject to size of the photovoltaic system, external conditions (weather) and individual 
behavior (usage of consumers with high electricity requirements, such as electric vehicles 
or heat pumps). In addition, Enpal uses externally available hourly-forward-curves in order 
to estimate the average net cash payment.  
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4 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

(1.) Revenue 

Revenue from manufacturer finance leases  

The following table summarizes the total revenue generated from manufacturer’s finance 
leases: 

EUR m 2023 2022 

Revenue from transferring leased photovoltaic systems, battery 
storage and electric vehicle charging systems 

830.9 412.9 

Interest income from manufacturer’s leases 51.5 14.3 

Total  882.5 427.2 

Revenue from sales of photovoltaic systems, battery storage and electric vehicle 
charging systems 

The following table summarizes the total revenue generated from sales of photovoltaic 
systems, battery storage and electric vehicle charging systems 

EUR m 2023 2022 

Revenue from sales of photovoltaic systems, battery storage and 
electric vehicle charging systems 

34.3 0.0 

Interest income from loan contracts 0.8 0.0 

Total  35.1 0.0 

Revenue from other contracts with customers  

The following table shows a breakdown of revenue from other contracts with customers: 

EUR m 2023 2022 

Sale of heat pumps 23.5 0.4 

Revenue from the electricity supply contracts  6.9 2.6 

Revenue from sales of materials to installers 6.1 0.0 

Service revenue 4.9 1.8 

Proceeds from exercise of purchase options by customers 0.1 0.1 

Other revenue 1.0 0.5 

Total 42.5 5.3 

Service revenue is recognized over the contract term. Enpal generates monthly revenue 
from electricity supply contracts with customers. The revenue arising from the sale of heat 
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pumps, the sale of materials to installers, the exercise of purchase options and other 
revenue is recognized at the point in time when the good or service is rendered. 

No revenue was recognized in the reporting year or in the prior year from items that were 
carried as contract liabilities at the beginning of the respective period or from contractual 
performance obligations that were (partly) satisfied in earlier financial years. 

Revenue originating from the replacement of battery storage is likely to be recognized within 
a prospective period of 10 to 15 years commencing on the date on which it is provided to the 
customer. Revenue originating from the replacement of electric vehicle charging systems 
is likely to be recognized 8 and 16 years after the date on which it is provided to the customer. 

Revenue is primarily generated in Germany. 

(2.) Cost of Sales 

Cost of sales consists of the following items: 

EUR m 2023 2022 

Cost of materials 402.3 186.1 

Personnel costs 100.7   57.3 

Construction costs 96.3 37.8 

Operating finance costs 37.9 9.2 

Monitoring and service costs 13.3 4.9 

Depreciation and amortization 7.8 1.8 

Electricity procurement costs 7.1 3.2 

Other cost of sales 5.3 2.6 

Total 670.6 302.9 

(3.) Selling Expenses 

The table below presents the composition of selling expenses: 

EUR m 2023 2022 

Personnel expenses 94.6 46.4 

Third-party services 62.4 21.0 

Fair value changes from direct marketing agreements 9.3 0.0 

Expected credit losses 4.2 1.8 

Depreciation and amortization 1.5 0.6 

Other selling expenses 3.7 0.8 

Total 175.6 70.5 
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(4.) Administrative Expenses 

The composition of administrative expenses is presented in the following table: 

EUR m 2023 2022 

Personnel expenses 52.1 18.7 

Software costs 18.4 6.7 

Third-party services 16.3 12.1 

Depreciation and amortization 9.3 4.1 

Other administrative expenses 17.6 4.7 

Total 113.7 46.2 

Other administrative expenses mainly include telecommunication costs, costs in 
connection with office leases and lease expenses for short-term leases. Development 
expenses that do not meet the recognition criteria (2023: EUR 8.5m; 2022: EUR 5.5m) are 
presented in administrative expenses. 

(5.) Other Operating Expenses 

The table below presents the composition of other expenses: 

EUR m  2023 2022 

Foreign exchange losses 0.5 0.0 

Other operating expenses 1.6 0.6 

Total 2.1 0.6 

Other operating expenses consist of credit losses on trade receivables (bad debts) of 
EUR 0.2m (2022: EUR 0.1m). 

(6.) Other Financial Income 

The table below presents the composition of other financial income: 

EUR m  2023 2022 

Remeasurement from modification of convertible loan 4.4 6.8 

Fair value changes of money market fund 2.9 0.0 

Other financial income 1.3 0.2 

Total 8.6 7.0 
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(7.) Other Finance Costs 

Other finance costs break down as follows: 

EUR m 2023 2022 

Transaction cost related to the sale of financing entities 6.4 0.0 

Expense from supplier finance liabilities 5.5 2.1 

Interest expenses from convertible loan 4.4 3.1 

Interest expenses from bank loans and credit lines 1.3 1.7 

Foreign currency losses 0.4 2.7 

Other finance costs 3.4 1.4 

Total 21.3 11.0 

Other finance costs primarily consist of other financing-related transaction cost.  

(8.) Income Taxes 

The income tax expense breaks down as follows: 

EUR m 2023 2022 

Current income tax  3.6 2.3 

Deferred income tax expenses/(income) 0.2 (8.9) 

Total 3.8 (6.6) 

The tax reconciliation between the reported income tax expense and the product of 
multiplying the earnings before tax with the applicable tax rate of the Group is presented 
below. The Group’s tax rate lies at 30.175% (2022: 30.175%). The effective tax rate lies at 26.8% 
(2022: 77.5%). 

EUR m 2023 2022 

Earnings before tax (14.2) 8.5 

Expected income tax expense/(income)  (4.3) 2.6 

Non-deductible expenses 6.5 2.9 

Trade tax corrections 1.5 0.7 

Non-recognition of deferred tax on deductible differences 2.5 (0.4) 

Non-recognition of deferred tax assets on tax loss carryforwards 5.1 5.2 

Utilization of non-recognized tax loss carryforwards (2.5) (2.6) 

Recognition of deferred tax assets on tax loss carryforwards (4.2) (15.5) 

Impact of tax rate changes (0.7) 0.0 

Other effects (0.1) 0.4 

Income tax expense (income) 3.8 (6.6) 
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities relates to the following: 

 31 Dec 2022 2023 31 Dec 2023 

EUR m 
Deferred 
tax asset 

Deferred 
tax 

liability 

Through 
P&L 

Through 
OCI or 
equity 

Transfer 
to 

disposal 
group 

Deferred 
tax asset 

Deferred 
tax 

liability 

Non-current assets 170.4 (178.2) (5.2) 1.4 (4.3) 27.4 (43.3) 

Intangible assets 0.0 (0.8) (0.7) 0.0 0.0 0.0 (1.5) 

Property, plant and 
equipment 

170.4 (2.6) 148.2 0.0 (290.5) 27.4 (1.9) 

Right-of-use assets  0.0 (3.5) (5.8) 0.0 0.0 0.0 (9.3) 

Lease receivables 0.0 (163.2) (144.9) 0.0 281.5 0.0 (26.6) 

Other financial 
assets 

0.0 (3.1) (0.2) 1.4 1.6 0.0 (0.2) 

Other non-financial 
assets 

0.0 (5.1) (1.8) 0.0 3.1 0.0 (3.8) 

Current assets 0.8 (15.4) (7.7) 2.7 19.5 2.7 (2.7) 

Inventories 0.0 (0.7) 3.1 0.0 0.0 2.4 0.0 

Lease receivables 0.0 (12.0) (9.8) 0.0 19.5 0.0 (2.3) 

Other financial 
assets 

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Other non-financial 
assets 

0.0 (2.7) (0.4) 2.7 0.0 0.0 (0.4) 

Cash and cash 
equivalents 

0.8 0.0 (0.5) 0.0 0.0 0.3 0.0 

Non-current 
liabilities 

6.8 (4.1) 9.0 2.6 (0.9) 15.1 (1.7) 

Convertible loan 0.0 (1.4) (0.1) 0.0 0.0 0.0 (1.5) 

Asset-backed loans 0.0 (2.7) (1.7) 0.0 4.3 0.0 (0.1) 

Lease liabilities 1.8 0.0 5.7 0.0 0.0 7.4 0.0 

Provisions 0.8 0.0 4.0 0.0 (0.5) 4.3 0.0 

Other financial 
liabilities 

3.8 0.0 (0.3) 2.6 (2.8) 3.3 0.0 

Other non-financial 
liabilities 

0.4 0.0 1.5 0.0 (1.8) 0.1 0.0 

Current liabilities 2.0 (0.3) (0.3) 0.0 0.9 2.1 0.1 

Convertible loan 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Lease liabilities 1.8 0.0 0.2 0.0 0.0 1.9 0.0 

Provisions 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Other financial 
liabilities 

0.2 (0.0) (0.8) 0.0 0.9 0.2 0.1 

Other non-financial 
liabilities 

0.0 (0.3) 0.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 (0.0) 

Tax loss 
carryforwards 

22.0 0.0 4.1 0.0 (8.4) 17.6 0.0 
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Deferred tax assets 
/ (liabilities) 

202.0 (198.0) (0.2) 6.7 6.8 65.0 (47.6) 

Offsetting (189.0) 189.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 (44.7) 44.7 

Deferred tax assets 
/ (liabilities) 

13.0 (9.0) (0.2) 6.7 6.8 20.3 (2.9) 

An amount of EUR 2.7m relates to transaction cost for the capital increase, which has been 
recorded directly in equity. 

For Enpal B.V., there is a deferred tax asset surplus of EUR 16.7m (2022: EUR 13.0m). In the 
current and prior year, the Enpal Group has realized corporate income tax and trade tax 
income. The tax loss carryforwards which resulted from the high investments in the 
development of the business where therefore partially utilized in the current and prior year. 
The further recoverability of deferred tax assets is based on the expected positive tax 
income. The future profits will result from the continuation of the positive business 
performance. 

A deferred tax asset of EUR 3.7m is recognized on tax loss carryforwards of installation 
subsidiaries. The companies have corporate income tax loss carryforwards of EUR 13.0m and 
trade tax loss carryforwards of EUR 11.7m. The loss results from the high investments in the 
development of the business. The recoverability of deferred tax assets is based on the 
expected positive tax income based on a different pricing of the services provided by these 
subsidiaries since the financial year. 

No deferred tax assets were recognized on the unused tax loss carryforwards for corporate 
income tax purposes of EUR 19.8m (2022: EUR 25.0m) nor on the unused tax loss carry-
forwards for trade tax purposes of EUR 14.1m (2022: EUR 24.1m) that can be carried forward 
indefinitely. No deferred tax assets were recognized on the temporary differences of 
EUR 8.4m (2022: EUR 0.1m). 

No interest carryforwards exist. In the prior year no deferred tax assets were recognized on 
interest carryforwards of EUR 9.0m. 

Deferred tax liabilities of EUR 1.3m (2022: EUR 1.4m) were not recognized on temporary 
differences related to shares in subsidiaries of the Group.  

Pillar Two legislation (see 3.5.3 New accounting standards) has been enacted or 
substantively enacted in certain jurisdictions the group operates. The legislation will be 
effective for the group’s financial year beginning 1 January 2024. Enpal is in scope of the 
enacted or substantively enacted legislation and has performed an assessment of the 
group’s potential exposure to Pillar Two income taxes. Based on the assessment, the Pillar 
Two effective tax rates in most of the jurisdictions in which the group operates are above 
15%. 
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Disposal group 

No deferred tax assets were recognized on the unused tax loss carryforwards for corporate 
income tax purposes of the disposal group of EUR 1.0m. For the disposal group no deferred 
tax assets were recognized on interest carryforward of EUR 24.3m. 

(9.) Personnel Expenses 

Personnel expenses break down as follows: 

EUR m  2023 2022 

Wages and Salaries 228.8 113.9 

Social Security 38.4 16.8 

Share-based payments 11.3 7.5 

Total 255.9 123.2 

The Enpal Group employed an average of 4,809 employees (2022: 2,476): 

EUR  2023 2022 

Sales 2,135 893 

Production 2,050 1,310 

Administration 495 209 

Development 130 64 

Total 4,809 2,476 

(10.) Intangible Assets 

The following table shows developments in intangible assets: 

EUR m 
Software and 

licenses  

Internally-
generated 

software  

Internally-
generated 

software under  
development 

Total 

Historical cost: 

1 Jan 2023 0.4 3.6 0.3 4.3 

Additions 0.2 4.5 0.0 4.7 

Reclassifications 0.0 0.3 (0.3) 0.0 

31 Dec 2023 0.6 8.4 0.0 9.0 
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Accumulated amortization and impairment: 

1 Jan 2023 (0.2) (1.3) (0.0) (1.5) 

Depreciation and 
amortization 

(0.1) (1.9) (0.0) (2.0) 

Adjustment 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 

31 Dec 2023 (0.3) (3.2) (0.0) (3.5) 

Carrying amount:     

1 Jan 2023 0.2 2.2 0.3 2.7 

31 Dec 2023 0.3 5.2 0.0 5.4 

 

EUR m 
Software and 

licenses  

Internally-
generated 

software  

Internally-
generated 

software under  
development 

Total 

Historical cost: 

1 Jan 2022 0.4 1.9 0.6 2.9 

Additions 0.0 1.4 0.3 1.6 

Reclassifications 0.0 0.3 (0.3) 0.0 

31 Dec 2022 0.4 3.6 0.6 4.5 

Accumulated amortization and impairment: 

1 Jan 2022 (0.2) (0.4) (0.0) (0.6) 

Depreciation and 
amortization 

0.0 (0.9) 0.0 (1.0) 

31 Dec 2022 (0.2) (1.3) (0.0) (1.5) 

Carrying amount:     

1 Jan 2022 0.2 1.5 0.3 2.0 

31 Dec 2022 0.2 2.3 0.3 2.7 

Internally generated intangible assets include self-developed software used to monitor 
photovoltaic systems, battery storages and electric vehicle charging systems, and app for 
customers and an app to administer and document the construction process. The 
presentation of the gross values of internally generated software under development for the 
prior year has been adjusted. This has no impact on the net value of internally generated 
software under development.  
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(11.) Property, Plant and Equipment 

The following table presents the development of property, plant and equipment: 

EUR m 
Smart 

electricity 
meters 

Safety 
scaffolding 

and tools 

Computer 
hardware and 

other office 
equipment 

Smart 
electricity 
meters in 

construction 

Total 

Historical cost: 

1 Jan 2023 5.0 7.9 3.7 0.0 16.6 

Additions 12.5 8.7 5.4 0.3 26.9 

Disposals 0.0 (2.5) (2.2) (0.0) (4.7) 

31 Dec 2023 17.5 14.1 6.8 0.3 38.7 

Accumulated amortization and impairment:  

1 Jan 2023 (0.3) (0.6) (1.1) (0.0) (2.0) 

Depreciation and 
amortization (1.2) (1.6) (1.8) (0.0) (4.5) 

Impairments (0.0) (1.9) (0.6) (0.0) (2.5) 

Disposals 0.0 1.1 1.1 0.0 2.2 

31 Dec 2023 (1.5) (3.0) (2.4) (0.0) (6.9) 

Carrying amount:      

1 Jan 2023 4.7 7.3 2.6 0.0 14.5 

31 Dec 2023 15.9 11.2 4.4 0.3 31.9 

 

EUR m 
Smart 

electricity 
meters 

Safety 
scaffolding 

and tools 

Computer 
hardware and 

other office 
equipment 

Smart 
electricity 
meters in 

construction 

Total 

Historical cost: 

1 Jan 2022 0.8 1.5 1.1 0.1 3.5 

Additions 4.2 6.3 2.6 0.0 13.0 

Reclassifications 0.0 0.1 0.0 (0.1) 0.0 

31 Dec 2022 5.0 7.9 3.7 0.0 16.6 

Accumulated amortization and impairment:  

1 Jan 2022 (0.0) (0.1) (0.5) (0.0) (0.7) 

Depreciation and 
amortization 

(0.3) (0.5) (0.6) (0.0) (1.4) 

Impairment losses (0.0) (0.0) (0.0) (0.0) (0.0) 

Disposals (0.0) (0.0) (0.0) (0.0) (0.0) 

31 Dec 2022 (0.3) (0.6) (1.1) (0.0) (2.0) 
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Carrying amount:      

1 Jan 2022 0.8 1.4 0.6 0.1 2.8 

31 Dec 2022 4.7 7.3 2.6 0.0 14.5 

Enpal acts as a meter operator (Messstellenbetreiber) and therefore recognizes the smart 
electricity meters installed at its customers under its own property, plant and equipment. 

The Group had entered into purchase commitments of EUR 17.4m (2022: EUR 6.0m) for 
property, plant and equipment. 

(12.) Right-of-Use Assets and Lease Liabilities 

The following table presents the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets and their 
development: 

EUR m Offices Warehouses Vehicles IT hardware Total 

1 Jan 2022 4.6 0.5 0.3 0.0 5.4 

Additions 3.8 3.7 0.0 2.9 10.4 

Depreciation (2.9) (0.5) (0.1) (0.7) (4.1) 

31 Dec 2022 5.5 3.7 0.2 2.3 11.6 

Additions 12.8 0.6 13.9 1.7 29.0 

Disposals  (0.1) (0.2) (0.0) (0.1) (0.4) 

Depreciation  (5.7) (0.9) (1.2) (1.5) (9.3) 

31 Dec 2023 12.5 3.2 12.9 2.4 30.9 

The increase in right-of-use assets is primarily due to the lease of additional offices and 
vehicles. There are no indications that right-of-use assets are impaired.  

The following table presents the carrying amounts of lease liabilities and their development: 

EUR m Offices Warehouses Vehicles IT hardware Total 

1 Jan 2022 4.6 0.5 0.3 0.0 5.3 

Additions 3.7 3.7 0.0 2.9 10.4 

Interest expenses on 
lease liabilities  

0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 

Cash outflows for leases  (2.9) (0.5) (0.1) (0.7) (4.1) 

31 Dec 2022 5.5 3.7 0.2 2.2 11.7 

Additions 12.5 0.6 13.8 1.7 28.6 

Interest expenses on 
lease liabilities  

0.2 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.5 

Cash outflows for leases  (5.6) (1.2) (1.3) (1.5) (9.6) 

31 Dec 2023 12.6 3.3 12.8 2.5 31.2 
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The due dates of lease liabilities are presented below. The figures are based on contractual 
undiscounted payments: 

EUR m 31 Dec 2023 31 Dec 2022 

< 1 year 14.7 6.6 

1 to 5 years 22.6 5.5 

> 5 years 0.4 0.0 

Total 37.8 12.1 

In addition to depreciation, the following amounts were posted through profit or loss: 

EUR m 2023 2022 

Expenses for leases of low-value assets  2.2 0.2 

Expenses for short-term leases  0.6 0.2 

Interest expenses on lease liabilities  0.5 0.1 

Total 3.4 0.6 

No variable lease payments were due in the reporting year or in the prior year. The lease 
agreements for vehicles do not include any options to prolong or terminate the lease. Enpal 
has considered the options included in the leases for offices, warehouses and computer 
hardware. 

The following table presents the undiscounted potential lease payments for periods after 
the date on which unilateral options to prolong or terminate a lease can be exercised that 
are not considered in the term of the lease and lease payments for contracts that have not 
yet commenced but agreed: 

EUR m < 1 year 1 to 5 years > 5 years Total 

Leases that have been entered into 
by the lessee but have not yet 
commenced 

1.3 25.2 45.1 71.7 

Renewal options that are not 
expected to be exercised 

0.3 13.3 7.6 21.2 

Total 1.6 38.6 52.7 92.9 

(13.) Lease and Loan Receivables 

Lease receivables from the lease of photovoltaic systems and, if chosen by the customer, 
battery storage and/or electric vehicle charging systems are recognized at the net 
investment in the lease. The net investment is composed of the following future lease 
payments: 

  



 

Annual Report | Consolidated Financial Statements |   46 

EUR m 31 Dec 2023 Disposal group 31 Dec 2022 

due within one year 8.2 97.4 41.4 

due within 1 to 5 years 32.7 427.4 226.7 

due within 6 to 10 years 40.9 546.9 231.0 

due within 11 to 15 years 40.9 546.9 231.0 

due within 16 to 20 years 14.6 457.3 147.7 

Gross investment in the lease 137.2 2,075.9 877.8 

Unrealized finance income 39.8 813.7 298.2 

Net investment in the lease 97.4 1.262.2 579.6 

Lease and loan receivables are exposed to credit risk. The Group only enters into contractual 
relationships with customers who can demonstrate that they meet a certain minimum 
credit rating. 

Allowances of EUR 4.2m (2022: EUR 2.8m) have been recognized for expected credit losses 
on receivables from manufacturer leases and from loans and presented under selling 
expenses. 

The following table presents the reconciliation for risk provisions for lease and loan 
receivables: 

EUR m Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

1 Jan 2023 2.3 0.5 0.0 
Additions 2.8 0.8 0.0 
Transfer (reclassification) to:    
Level 1  - 0.1 0.1 
Level 2  1.5 - 0.1 
Level 3  0.0 0.2 - 
Revaluation effect over the year 1.1 (1.5) (0.1) 

31 Dec 2023 4.9 1.1 0.0 
Write-off and utilization of the risk 
provision  0.2 0.2 0.4 

The following table presents a reconciliation of the gross carrying amount of lease and loan 
receivables: 

EUR m Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

1 Jan 2023 572.7 8.6 1.1 

Additions 946.5 17.1 0.5 

Transfer (reclassification) to: 0.0 0.0 0.0 
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Level 1  0.0 24.4 4.5 

Level 2  31.9 0.0 1.2 

Level 3  0.0 4.8 0.0 

Revaluation of Stock (175.4) (1.0) 1.2 

31 Dec 2023 1,375.7 53.9 8.5 

Thereof disposal group 1,219.6 25.7 1.5 

(14.) Inventories 

Inventories consist of the following items: 

EUR m 31 Dec 2023 31 Dec 2022 

Raw materials, consumables and supplies 153.1 107.8 

Unfinished photovoltaic systems, battery storages, electric vehicle 
charging systems and heat pumps 

30.5 24.5 

Total 183.7 132.3 

The cost of inventories recognized under the cost of sales in the reporting year amounts to 
EUR 333.1m (2022: EUR 171.0m). Materials of EUR 4.1m have been impaired by EUR 1.9m. 

(15.) Trade Receivables 

Trade receivables mainly consist of receivables from sale of heat pumps, photovoltaic 
systems and electricity supply contracts. In the prior year mainly receivables from sale of 
materials were presented. 

(16.) Other Financial Assets 

The following table presents the composition of other financial assets:  

EUR m 31 Dec 2023 Disposal group 31 Dec 2022 

Security deposits 0.9 0.0 0.8 

Derivatives with a positive fair value 0.6 6.7 9.9 

Other participating interest 2.0 0.0 0.0 

Non-current financial assets 3.4 6.7 10.7 

Convertible loan 2.0 0.0 0.0 

Security deposits 0.5 0.0 0.3 

Other current financial assets 2.4 0.1 0.5 

Current financial assets 4.9 0.1 0.8 

Total 8.3 6.7 11.5 
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(17.) Other Non-Financial Assets 

Other non-financial assets break down as follows: 

EUR m 31 Dec 2023 Disposal group 31 Dec 2022 

Deferred borrowing costs 10.6 3.1 15.5 

Incremental cost of obtaining customer contracts 3.7 0.0 1.9 

Contract assets 0.2 0.0 0.2 

Non-current non-financial assets 14.5 3.1 17.6 

Input tax receivables 36.7 38.1 29.2 

Prepaid expenses and deferred charges 4.9 0.1 11.5 

Advance payments on inventories 0.3 0.0 4.7 

Contract assets 0.0 0.0 0.1 

Other current non-financial assets 0.8 0.0 0.0 

Current non-financial assets 42.6 38.2 45.6 

Total 57.2 41.3 63.2 

Deferred borrowing costs consist of transaction costs incurred for the asset-backed lines of 
credit that have not yet been drawn on and commitments fees. The transactions costs are 
deducted from the face value of the credit lines when they are drawn. 

Other current non-financial assets include capitalized transactions fees in connection with 
additional debt financing, that will become active in 2024. Enpal will assume costs of 
EUR 1.0m incurred for its debt holders in financial year. 

(18.) Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise current bank deposits denominated in EUR, deposits 
of EUR 26.8m (2022: EUR 27.3m) denominated in USD, investments in money market funds of 
EUR 119.1m (2022: EUR 34.7m), and, to a minor extent, cash on hand. 

Cash and cash equivalents of disposal groups comprise current bank deposits 
denominated in EUR. 

As at the reporting date, current bank deposits of EUR 12.2m (2022: EUR 29.2m) were subject 
to restricted disposal. Of this amount, EUR 0.2m (2022: EUR 1.2m) was pledged to the lessors 
of real estate, EUR 5.2m (2022: EUR 6.6m) placed on special-purpose accounts for the 
purchase of materials, as well as EUR 6.8m (2022: EUR 21.3m) pledged for future expenses 
related to the service and maintenance agreements as agreed with the lenders of the 
asset-backed loans. 

Current bank deposits of the disposal group of EUR 53.5m are subject to restricted disposal 
that are pledged for future expenses related to the service and maintenance agreements 
as agreed with the lenders of the asset-backed loans. 
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(19.) Disposal group classified as held-for-sale  

In December 2023 Enpal entered into a share purchase agreement to sell the majority of its 
shares in Enpal Green Future Holding GmbH and Enpal Green Solutions Holding GmbH (the 
“sale of financing entities”) and the majority of the shareholder loans granted from Enpal 
B.V. to Enpal Green Future Holding GmbH and Enpal Green Solutions Holding GmbH. The 
transaction consists of 4 closings. In the first closing, which took place on the 2 January 2024, 
Enpal sold 90% of its shares in Enpal Green Solutions Holding GmbH and 49% of its shares in 
Enpal Green Future Holding GmbH. In addition, 80% of the shareholder loans granted to Enpal 
Green Solutions Holding GmbH and 90% of the shareholder loans granted to Enpal Green 
Future Holding GmbH as per 31 December 2023 have been sold. In the second closing, which 
took place on the 15 March 2024, Enpal has sold 41% of shares in Enpal Green Future Holding 
GmbH and further shareholder loans. The third closing took place on 14 May 2024. Under the 
third closing Enpal sold 90% of its existing shareholder loans granted to Enpal Green 
Solutions Holding GmbH as of the closing date. Management expects the completion of the 
remaining closings during 2024. After all closings are completed, Enpal will hold 10% of the 
shares in Enpal Green Solutions Holding GmbH and Enpal Green Future Holding GmbH and 
10% of the shareholder loans granted to both entities. The second, third and fourth closing is 
subject to certain financial conditions of the acquiring party. The third and fourth closing 
therefore gives the acquiring party the right but no obligation to complete the transaction. 
In case the third and fourth closing would not take place, Enpal has the right to demand 
from the acquiring party to re-purchase a certain percentage of the shares in Enpal Green 
Solutions Holding GmbH, which is required so that the parties hold the same percentages in 
shares in Enpal Green Solutions Holding GmbH and the granted shareholder loans.  

At 31 December 2023 the financing entities under the SPA are available for sale and a signed 
Transaction Agreement is concluded. All transactional closings are expected to be 
completed in 2024 and thus within one year. Accordingly, closing is assessed by 
management to be highly probable. The assets and liabilities of the financing entities are 
there classified as held-for-sale.  

At 31 December 2023, the disposal group was stated at fair value less costs to sell and 
comprised of the following assets and liabilities. 
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EUR m 31 Dec 2023 

Lease receivables 1,259.4 

Other financial assets 6.7 

Other non-financial assets 41.3 

Cash and cash equivalent 115.0 

Assets held for sale  1,422.4 

Asset-backed loans 1,220.3 

Provisions 2.4 

Other financial liabilities 22.2 

Other non-financial liabilities 10.5 

Trade payables 1.8 

Deferred tax liabilities 6.3 

Liabilities held for sale 1,263.9 

The cumulative expenses included in other comprehensive income relating to the disposal 
group amounts to EUR 9.1m which includes effects from cash flow hedges and related 
deferred taxes.  

(20.) Equity 

Issued capital amounts to EUR 0.1m (2022: EUR 0.1m) with a face value of EUR 1.00 per share. 
66,337 shares have been issued (2022: 66,337), of which 41,152 are preference shares that 
are equipped with preferential treatment in the event of an exit, meaning any proceeds from 
liquidation are paid to these shareholders first. In addition, special shares exist, which as 
long as they are hold by a founder or founding company, entitle the holder to cast two votes 
per special share. Cash of EUR 7k was received in the prior year for an increase of issued 
capital due to the Series D financing round. Further EUR 208.0m increase in share premium 
were received in the financial year. The issue of new shares and the capital increase related 
to the Series D financing round and were notarized on 19 December 2022 and entered in the 
commercial register on 19 January 2023. Transaction costs of EUR 9.0m for this capital 
increase were recognized under other non-financial assets in the prior year and have been 
offset against the share premium in the financial year. 

As in the prior year, the terms and conditions of the convertible loan were modified on 
2 December 2023 (2022: 4 February 2022). The term of the loan was extended, and the 
interest rate reduced, leading to a lower value for the conversion right, which was already 
recognized in share premium in the prior years. The share premium decreased by EUR 2.4m 
(2022: EUR 4.1m) on account of this modification. Retained earnings were increased by the 
same amount (see the notes on the convertible loan).  
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Other reserves comprise the accumulated foreign currency translation differences arising 
from the investment in Enpal China Ltd. and the cash flow hedge reserve. 

The retained earnings consist of the accumulated profits or losses of the Group per the 
reporting date. 

A non-controlling interest of 30% is held in Enpal ezee GmbH. Enpal ezee GmbH holds shares 
in ezee Benefit GmbH, Enpal ezee Benefit GmbH and Enpal ezee Benefit III GmbH, without 
change on the prior year. In the prior year, the shares in Enpal ezee Benefit II GmbH were sold 
by Enpal ezee GmbH to Enpal Green Future Holding GmbH, in which Enpal B.V. holds 100% of 
the shares, for a purchase price of EUR 25k effective 25 March 2023. The acquisition qualified 
as a transaction with shareholders. The difference between the purchase price and the 
carrying amount of the non-controlling interests was posted to retained earnings and 
therefore offset against the loss brought forward. In addition, non-controlling interests hold 
100% of the shares in Green Finance Solution SA. 

The composition and development of equity is shown in the statement of changes in equity. 

(21.) Convertible Loan 

On 12 February 2021, Enpal entered into a convertible loan. The conversion price is fixed, and 
the creditors were given the right to exercise the right of conversion any time before the due 
date upon giving notice. Due to fixed conversion price, the conversion option meets the 
criteria for equity and is presented in equity at its fair value upon initial recognition. The 
underlying liability is recognized at amortized cost. 

On 4 February 2022 the term of the remaining convertible loan of EUR 15.0m was extended 
until 19 February 2024. The interest rate was reduced from 5% p.a. to 2% p.a. in the course of 
the prolongation. This change to the contract was treated as a significant contractual 
modification, which entailed derecognizing the existing liability and recognizing the new 
one. The extension of the term and the reduction in the interest rate resulted in the fair value 
of the underlying loan (excluding the conversion rights) being lower than the carrying 
amount of the convertible loan prior to the modification. Consequently, an expense of 
EUR 0.7m resulted from the derecognition of the previous liability at the time of the 
modification. The new liability (without conversion right) was recognized at fair value of EUR 
8.1m, resulting in a gain from the modification of EUR 7.6m. The conversion right previously 
recognized under equity still constitutes an equity component after the contractual 
modification. The modification resulted in an increase of the value of the conversion right of 
EUR 4.1m to EUR 7.6m, which was recognized directly in equity (see notes on equity). From 
the date of the modification until 31 December 2022, an effective interest expense of 
EUR 2.8m was recognized. As at 31 December 2022, the convertible loan had a carrying 
amount of EUR 11.2m. 

On 2 December 2023 the term of the remaining convertible loan of EUR 15.0m was extended 
until 19 February 2025. The interest rate was reduced from 2% p.a. to 0.25% p.a. in the course 
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of the prolongation. This change to the contract was again treated as a significant 
contractual modification, which entailed derecognizing the existing liability and recognizing 
the new one. The extension of the term and the reduction in the interest rate resulted in the 
fair value of the underlying loan (excluding the conversion rights) being lower than the 
carrying amount of the convertible loan prior to the modification. Consequently, a gain of 
EUR 4.4m resulted from the derecognition of the previous liability at the time of the 
modification and recognition of the new liability (without conversion right). The conversion 
right previously recognized under equity still constitutes an equity component after the 
contractual modification. The share premium decreased by EUR 2.4m on account of this 
modification. Retained earnings were increased by the same amount. From the date of the 
modification until 31 December 2023, an effective interest expense of EUR 4.1m was 
recognized. As at 31 December 2023, the convertible loan had a carrying amount of 
EUR 11.2m. 

(22.) Bank Loans 

Bank loans consist of an overdraft loan of EUR 67.7m (2022: EUR 41.5m).  

Furthermore, letter of credit lines are entered into to finance purchases of materials. There 
are four revolving credit facilities, which have a total volume of EUR 180.0m (2022: EUR 75.0m) 
of which 75.0m expire in March 2024 and 105.0m of the total commitment expire in 
December 2024 (2022: 75.0m expiring in March 2024). The utilization of the overdraft loan 
may not exceed EUR 155.0m (2022: EUR 50.0m).  

The bank loans are secured by a collateral assignment of inventories of EUR 112.1m (2022: 
EUR 54.2m), trade receivables of EUR 28.4m (2022: EUR 0.7m) and a pledge of current bank 
deposits of EUR 3.8m (2022: EUR 6.7m).  

The agreements contain financial covenants and change of control clauses. The most 
important financial covenants are the equity ratio, a defined current ratio and a margin for 
the individual entity. Further a minimum cash balance is required.  

The financial indicators may not over- or undershoot the respective covenants. Enpal 
monitors compliance with the covenants on a day-to-day basis and reports them to the 
creditors each month. For this reason, the risk of non-compliance is deemed to be low. In 
the financial year 2023 and as at 31 December 2023 financial covenants have been met. 
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(23.) Asset-Backed Loans 

The contractual terms and conditions of the asset-backed loans are as follows: 

EUR m 

Nominal 
interest 

rate 
Volume Maturity 

31 Dec 2023 31 Dec 2022 

Face 
value 

Carrying 
amount 

Face 
value 

Carrying 
amount 

Contract 1 3.22% 14.0 2035 11.5 11.5 12.3 12.3 

Contract 2 1.3% - 2.0% 30.0 2038-2040 25.4 25.3 27.1 27.0 

Contract 4 1.9% - 2.2% 50.0 2035-2040 42.7 42.5 45.4 45.2 

Contract 9 1.1% + 1M 
Euribor 

500.0 2027 44.4 44.2 0.0 0.0 

Contract 
10 

8.0% + 1M 
Euribor 

94.0 2027 8.2 8.2 0.0 0.0 

Contract 11 1.0% + 1M 
Euribor 

500.0 2028 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Contract 
12 

7.3% + 1M 
Euribor 

58.0 2028 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Contract 
13 

1.0% + 1M 
Euribor 

500.0 2028 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Contract 
14 

7.3% + 1M 
Euribor 

58.0 2028 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Total 
 

1,804.0 

 

132.1 131.7 84.7 84.4 

Contractual terms and conditions of the asset-backed loans of the disposal group: 

EUR m 

Nominal 
interest 

rate 
Volume Maturity 

31 Dec 2023 31 Dec 2022 

Face 
value 

Carrying 
amount 

Face 
value 

Carrying 
amount 

Contract 3 1.6% + 6M 
Euribor 

62.0 2037 52.8 51.2 56.4 55.1 

Contract 5 1.8% - 3.3% 275.0 2039-2041 234.8 251.8 270.5 265.2 

Contract 6 4.40% 70.0 20391 67.0 65.9 58.3 58.0 

Contract 7  1.6% - 5.0% 
+ Euribor 

1.166.0 2040-2042 781.2 768.3 52.4 51.0 

Contract 8 7.3% 120.0 2041 86.9 83.0 4.0 3.9 

Total 
 

1,693.0 

 

1,222.6 1,220.3 441.7 433.2 

 
1 40m EUR have a maturity in 2024 due to a contractual change in connection with the sale of the financing entities.  
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Enpal enters into long-term asset-backed loan arrangements to finance its customers the 
purchase or rental of the photovoltaic systems, battery storages and electric vehicle 
charging systems. The asset-backed loan volume in active loan facilities increases each 
month by of the number of photovoltaic systems, battery storages and electric vehicle 
charging systems that are leased or financed in that month. Both senior and mezzanine 
arrangements are entered into. Contracts 11 through 14 were concluded in the financial year. 
The commitment volume for contracts 7, 9 and 10 were increased in the financial year. The 
asset-backed loans are repaid over its residual term and are subject to fixed interest rates 
except for contract 3, 7, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13 and 14. The interest rates for contracts 1, 2 and 4 were 
fixed upon drawdown of the tranches. For Contract 5 and 7 the fixed interest rates differ 
depending on the lender. Interest swaps have been concluded to hedge the variable 
interest-rate of contract 3. Contract 7 contains variable interest rate loans of EUR 300m, 
short term variable loans of 230m and fixed interest rate loans of EUR 636m. A contingent 
interest rate swap has been concluded to hedge the variable interest-rate of the variable 
interest rate loan of contract 7. The contingency feature of the swap contract depends on a 
minimum utilization amount of the hedged variable interest rate loan. Contracts 9 and 10 
contain a series of swap agreements to hedge the variable interest cashflows.  

Enpal retains legal title to the photovoltaic systems, battery storages and electric vehicle 
charging systems. The photovoltaic systems, battery storage systems and electric vehicle 
charging systems are granted as collateral for the asset-backed loans. The asset-backed 
loans are also secured by collateral assignment of lease receivables of EUR 1,357.9m (2022: 
578.7m), a pledge of the current bank deposits of EUR 154.0m, of which EUR 115.0m is 
allocated to the disposal group (2022: EUR 27.8m) and the pledge of claims from hedging 
transactions of EUR 18.1m, of which EUR 18.1m is allocated to this disposal group (2022: 
EUR 9.8m). 

In addition, there are financial covenants in place which allow the creditor to demand 
immediate repayment in the case of non-compliance which also include change-of-
control clauses. The financial covenants differ from contract to contract and rely primarily 
on financial indicators such as the equity ratio at the level of the special-purpose entity, the 
net profit or loss of the special-purpose entity, the debt service coverage ratio (DSCR), 
minimum cash requirements at the level of Enpal B.V., net tangible equity at the level of 
Enpal B.V. or loss ratios in the respective customer portfolio. The financial indicators may not 
over- or undershoot the respective covenants. Enpal monitors compliance with the 
covenants on a day-to-day basis and reports them to the creditors semi-annually or 
monthly. For this reason, the risk of non-compliance is deemed to be low. In the financial 
year and as at 31 December 2023 financial covenants have been met. 

In connection with the contracted sale of financing entities, the terms of contract 8 have 
been modified and Enpal has agreed to a repayment of EUR 40m with the second closing of 
the transaction. The contract modification included a prepayment penalty of EUR 4.0m of 
which EUR 0.6m have been paid in the financial year. EUR 3.6m were subject to the second 
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closing of the sale of the financing entities. This change to the contract was treated as a 
significant contractual modification, which entailed derecognizing the existing liability and 
recognizing the new one at a fair value. The extension of the term and the reduction in the 
interest rate resulted in the fair value of the underlying loan being lower than the carrying 
amount of the convertible loan prior to the modification. Taking into account the contractual 
cash flows of the prepayment penalty resulted in a gain of EUR 0.7m. At the time of the 
derecognition the carrying amount of the loan was EUR 67.2m. 

(24.) Provisions 

Provisions developed as follows: 

EUR m 1 Jan 2023 Utilization Additions Releases 

Transfer 
to 

disposal 
group 

31 Dec 
2023 

Warranty provisions 3.9 (3.9) 0.8 0.0 0.0 0.8 

Dismantling 
obligations 

2.9 (0.0) 0.3 0.0 (2.4) 0.8 

Other provisions 0.3 (0.0) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.3 

Total 7.0 (3.9) 1.1 0.0 (2.4) 1.9 

The dismantling obligations are due at the end of the lease term and therefore in the 
financial years 2037 to 2043. Warranty and other provisions are short-term. 

Liabilities from share-based payments of EUR 13.2m (2022: EUR 10.6m) are presented in 
provisions. Please refer to the notes on share-based payments for further details. 

(25.) Trade Payables 

Trade payables include liabilities of EUR 1.4m (2022: EUR 0.9m) that are denominated in 
foreign currencies. 

(26.) Supplier Finance Liabilities 

There are seven Supplier finance arrangements in place with five partners to whom the 
liabilities towards installation partners and suppliers of materials have been transferred or 
via whom these liabilities are settled. 

  31 Dec 2023 31 Dec 2022 

Factored liabilities (EUR m) 18.1 12.2 

Terms of payment from the date of transfer (days) 90 90 

Original terms of payment (days) 7 – 90 7 – 90 
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Factored liabilities (EUR m) 13.8 14.0 

Terms of payment from the date of transfer (days) 120 120 

Original terms of payment (days) 0 – 60 45 

Factored liabilities (EUR m) 3.6 4.0 

Terms of payment from the date of transfer (days) 60 60 

Original terms of payment (days) 0 – 60 45 

Factored liabilities (EUR m) 6.7 - 

Terms of payment from the date of transfer (days) 120 - 

Original terms of payment (days) 120  - 

Factored liabilities (EUR m) 5.8 - 

Terms of payment from the date of transfer (days) < 180 - 

Original terms of payment (days) 60 - 

Factored liabilities (EUR m) 7.8 - 

Terms of payment from the date of transfer (days) 120 - 

Original terms of payment (days) 0 – 60 - 

Factored liabilities (EUR m) 6.6 - 

Terms of payment from the date of transfer (days) n/a* - 

Original terms of payment (days) n/a* - 
 62.4 30.2 

*Terms are dependent on the supplier’s individual payment terms. Payment terms are not adjusted through the 

factoring party.  

(27.) Other Financial Liabilities 

Other financial liabilities break down as follows:  

EUR m 31 Dec 2023 Disposal group 31 Dec 2022 

Financial liabilities from direct marketing 
agreements (derivatives) 

8.4 0.0 
0.0 

Derivatives with negative fair value 2.5 11.5 1.1 

Other non-current financial liabilities 1.9 0.0 0.0 

Non-current financial liabilities 12.7 11.5 1.1 

Liabilities towards employees 13.0 0.0 8.4 

Other current financial liabilities 1.1 10.7 2.1 

Current financial liabilities 14.2 10.7 10.6 

Total 26.9 22.2 11.7 
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(28.) Other Non-Financial Liabilities 

The following table presents the composition of other non-financial liabilities:  

EUR m 31 Dec 2023 Disposal group 31 Dec 2022 

Contract liabilities 0.4 7.6 1.4 

Non-current non-financial liabilities 0.4 7.6 1.4 

Sales tax liability 29.4 2.9 13.2 

Other current non-financial liabilities 3.2 0 2.1 

Current non-financial liabilities 32.6 2.9 15.2 

Total 33.0 10.5 16.6 

Enpal presents contract liabilities of EUR 0.3m in connection with the right to replacement 
the battery storages and electric vehicle charging systems (2022: EUR 1.4m). 

(29.) Share-Based Payments 

In order to bind employees to the Company, Enpal allows selected employees to participate 
in the growth of the Enpal Group’s business value within the framework of a virtual share 
option program. In addition, non-controlling interests in Enpal ezee GmbH were granted 
share-based payments as consideration for supplies of merchandise. The virtual share 
options grant the holder the right to payment of a bonus when certain conditions are met.  

Enpal has three virtual share option programs: 

• Virtual share option program of Enpal B.V. (“VESOP”) 
• Virtual share option program of Enpal B.V. (“Phoenix”)  
• Virtual share option program (“Exit Stock”) 

The participants of Enpal VESOP and Phoenix programs are employees. The participant of 
the Exit Stock program is the non-controlling shareholder of Enpal ezee GmbH.  

The virtual share options offered in the VESOP and Phoenix programs are subject to certain 
vesting conditions. If the vesting conditions are not met, the virtual share options are 
returned to the Enpal Group and all of the employee’s rights attached to the virtual share 
options are extinguished. The vesting period is measured in full months which are laid out 
for the beneficiary in the corresponding agreement. Generally, the individual vesting period 
is 84 months. 

The grant of virtual share options with cash settlement gives rise to a liability that is 
measured at the fair value of any vested bonus payments. The fair value is calculated each 
reporting date. 

The expenses for the service rendered by the participating employees are recognized over 
the respective term, with the liability increasing accordingly. The expense is charged to cost 
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of sales, selling expenses or administrative expenses, depending on the function to which 
the beneficiary is assigned. 

The VESOP vests over the individually agreed term. The plan has a 12-month cliff, with the 
expense being recognized on a monthly straight-line basis over the subsequent vesting 
period. Under the Phoenix program, the vesting period for the virtual share option is set at 
nine months. The beneficiaries of the plan must continue to work for a group entity during 
the vesting period for the virtual share option to vest. Even vested stock options are 
extinguished in the event that the employee is terminated for due cause (bad leaver). 

An accelerated vesting period applies under the VESOP plan for the event that an exit event 
occurs within the first 48 months after granting and the employee is still an employee of 
Enpal. The exit payment is then calculated on a vesting period of 48 months instead of the 
usual 84 months. 

The virtual share options give Enpal the right to pay a severance payment in order to 
repurchase the virtual share options granted under the plan if, for example, the employee 
leaves the Enpal Group prior to an exit event (good leaver).  

The liability recognized for virtual share options granted to employees amounts to EUR 13.2m 
(2022: EUR 10.6m). The intrinsic value of this liability amounts to EUR 13.2m (2022: EUR 10.6m). 

Expenses of EUR 11.3m (2022: EUR 7.5m) have been recognized for the employees’ service 
rendered during the financial year. During the financial year one-time payments 
(secondary sales) of EUR 7.8m were performed to certain employees.  

The following table shows the number and weighted average exercise prices (WAEP) of and 
movements in virtual share options over the course of the year: 

 
2023 2023 2022 2022 

Number WAEP  Number WAEP 

1 Jan 7,066 2,723 5,549 1,036 

Issued during the year  1,908 2,341 2,676 4,850 

Lapsed during the year (753) 15,368 (499) 789 

Exercised during the year - - - - 

Repurchased during the year 
(“severance payment” and 
“Secondary Sales”) 

(359) 15 (660) 897 

31 Dec  7,862 6,229 7,066 2,723 

The following tables combine the key measurement parameters for all of the three plans 
used to determine the fair value of the virtual share options: 
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VESOP Phoenix Exit stocks 

31 Dec 2023    

Weighted fair value 17,104 19,088 19,088 

Dividend yield (%) 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Expected volatility (%) 77.8 80.2 80.2 

Risk-free rate (%) 1.95 1.99 1.99 

Expected residual vesting period (years) 5.63 - 0.1 

Expected term (years) 4.01 4.01 4.01 

Weighted average share price (EUR) 19,088 19,088 19,088 

Model Black-Scholes Black-Scholes Black-Scholes 

31 Dec 2022    

Weighted fair value 18,096 19,217 19,217 

Dividend yield (%) 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 

Expected volatility (%) 78.1% 78.1% 78.1% 

Risk-free rate (%) 2.5% 2.5% 2.5% 

Expected residual vesting period (years) 4.8 - 1.1 

Expected term (years) 4.1 4.1 4.1 

Weighted average share price (EUR) 19,217 19,217 19,217 

Model Black-Scholes Black-Scholes Black-Scholes 

The expected term of the virtual share options is based on historical data and current 
expectations and does not necessarily reflect the term until an anticipated exit event. The 
expected volatility reflects the assumption that the historical volatility over a period similar 
to the term of the options is an approximation of future trends. However, this does not 
necessarily reflect the actual events. The residual vesting period reflects the average 
remaining vesting period. 

(30.) Financial Instruments 

The following table presents the carrying amounts and fair values of financial assets and 
financial liabilities and their allocation to the fair value hierarchy. It does not contain any 
information on the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities that are not 
measured at fair value if the carrying amount of such items sufficiently approximates their 
fair value: 
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EUR m 

 

Asset/liability 

Amounts 
recognized in the 
statement of 
financial position: 

31 Dec 2023 

Carrying 
amount 

Fair 
value 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

Financial assets at fair value 

Convertible loan Other financial 
assets 

2.0 2.0  2.0  

Convertible loan and 
other participating 
interest 

Other financial 
assets 

2.0 2.0  2.0  

Foreign currency 
Instruments 

Other financial 
assets 

0.6 0.6  0.6  

Money market funds Other financial 
assets 

0.5 0.5 0.5   

Money market funds  Cash and cash 
equivalents 

119.1 119.1 119.1   

Disposal group:       

Interest swaps used in 
designated hedges* 

Other financial assets 6.7 6.7  6.7  

Financial assets at amortized cost 

Trade receivables Trade receivables 4.4  

   

Loan receivables Loan receivables 27.3     

Other financial 
assets 

Other financial 
assets 

3.3  

   

Cash and cash 
equivalents 

Cash and cash 
equivalents 

175.0  

   

Disposal group:       

Other financial assets Other financial assets 6.7     

Cash and cash 
equivalents 

Cash and cash 
equivalents 

115.0     

Total (excluding disposal group) 334.1     

Financial liabilities at fair value  

Interest swaps used 
in designated 
hedges* 

Other financial 
liabilities 

2.5 2.5  2.5  

Financial liabilities 
from direct 
marketing 
agreements 

Other financial 
liabilities 

8.4 8.4   8.4 

Disposal group:       

Interest swaps used in 
designated hedges* 

Other financial 
liabilities 

11.5 11.5  11.5  
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Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost 

Convertible loan Convertible loan  11.2 11.2   11.2 

Bank loans Bank loans 67.7     

Asset-backed loans Asset-backed loans 132.2 117.6   117.6 

Trade payables Trade payables 108.6     

Supplier finance 
liabilities 

Supplier finance 
liabilities 

62.4     

Other financial 
liabilities  

Other financial 
liabilities  

16.0     

Disposal group:       

Asset-backed loans Asset-backed loans 1,220.3 1,207.2   1,207.2 

Trade payables Trade payables 1.8     

Other financial 
liabilities 

Other financial 
liabilities 

10.7     

Total (excluding disposal group) 420.3     

 * Such instruments do not fall into one of the IFRS 9 categories. EUR 6m (thereof disposal group EUR 6m) can be offset in the event 
of insolvency. 

In January 2023, Enpal entered into three foreign currency forward sale transactions. These 
transactions include a total selling position of USD 29.1m. As at 31 December 2023, the fair 
value of the forward instruments amounted to USD 0.6m. 

In April 2023, Enpal subscribed to a convertible loan agreement amounting to EUR 2m. The 
instrument is measured at fair value through profit or loss. The loan was converted by Enpal 
in June 2023.  

In June 2023, Enpal subscribed to a second convertible loan agreement amounting to 
EUR 2m. The instrument is measured at fair value through profit or loss. 

The reconciliation of the fair values determined using valuation techniques for financial 
instruments recognized at fair value is shown in the following table: 

EUR m 

Carrying 
Amount as 

at 1 
January 

2023 

Additions Disposals Gains/Loss
es recorded 
in profit or 

loss 

Carrying 
Amount as 

at 31 
December 

2023 

Financial liabilities from 
direct marketing 
agreements 

0.0 0.0 0.0 8.4 8.4 
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No reclassifications from and in level 3 took place in 2023.  

EUR m 

 

Asset/liability 

Amounts 
recognized in the 
statement of 
financial position: 

31 Dec 2022 

Carrying 
amount 

Fair 
value 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

Financial assets at fair value 

Interest swaps used 
in designated 
hedges* 

Other financial 
assets 

9.9 9.9  9.9  

Money market funds  Cash and cash 
equivalents 

34.7 34.7 34.7   

Financial assets at amortized cost 

Trade receivables Trade receivables 0.7  

   

Other financial 
assets 

Other financial 
assets 

1.7  

   

Cash and cash 
equivalents 

Cash and cash 
equivalents 

151.9  

   

Total 198.9 
  

  

Financial liabilities at fair value  

Interest swaps used 
in designated 
hedges* 

Other financial 
liabilities 

1.1 1.1  1.1  

Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost 

Convertible loan Convertible loan  11.2 10.9   10.9 

Bank loans Bank loans 41.5     

Asset-backed loans Asset-backed loans 517.6 431.2   431.2 

Trade payables Trade payables 98.3     

Supplier finance 
liabilities 

Supplier finance 
liabilities 

30.2     

Other financial 
liabilities  

Other financial 
liabilities  

10.6     

Total 710.6     

* Such instruments do not fall into one of the IFRS 9 categories. Of which EUR 40k are offsettable in the event of insolvency. 

The allocation to the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of inputs that is 
significant for measuring fair value in its entirety:  

• Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities  
• Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices that are observable, either directly or 

indirectly, and are material to the measurement of an asset or liability 
• Level 3: at least one input factor is unobservable 
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Any reclassification between the levels of the hierarchy is performed on the reporting date. 

The fair value of financial instruments that are carried at amortized cost is measured by 
discounting their future cash flows using market interest rates that are commensurate to 
the credit risks and terms of the instruments. For current financial instruments it is assumed 
that their fair value approximates their carrying amounts as an accounting convenience. 

The material inputs used to determine the fair value of the convertible loan are the 
company-specific credit margin, the likelihood of the possible dates on which the rights will 
be exercised and the risk-free rate. The credit risk is modeled in order to account for the 
higher risk borne by investors in connection with their convertible instrument on each 
measurement date. The risk-free rate is based on the Euribor for instruments of an 
equivalent term and the swap rates. 

Interest hedging instruments are measured using the customary market methods using the 
market interest rates applicable on the reporting date (6M Euribor and the ESTR interest 
rate) for instruments of an equivalent residual term and debt servicing structure, using 
accessible market information. 

The fair value of the foreign currency derivatives is measured based on the price indications 
provided by the counterparties of the agreement (financial institutes).  

Derivatives from direct marketing agreements are measured via a discounted cash flow 
model. For determining the fair value, the estimated amount of surplus produced by the 
customer, which is subject to size of the photovoltaic system, external conditions (weather) 
and individual behavior (usage of consumers with high electricity requirements, such as 
electric vehicles or heat pumps) is used. In addition, Enpal uses externally available hourly-
forward-curves for anticipated future electricity prices in order to estimate the average net 
cash payment. A decrease of 10% of the average electricity price would have resulted in a 
higher financial liability of EUR 1.1m, an increase of 10% of the average electricity price would 
have resulted in a lower financial liability of EUR 1.1m. A decrease of 10% of the estimated 
amount of surplus produced would have resulted in a higher financial liability of EUR 1.4m, 
an increase of 10% of the estimated amount of surplus produced would have resulted in a 
lower financial liability of EUR 1.4m.  

The net result of financial instruments, broken down by measurement category breaks down 
as follows: 
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EUR m Financial assets 
at amortized 

cost 

Financial assets 
at fair value (not 
in a designated 

hedge) 

Financial 
liabilities at 

amortized cost 

Financial 
liabilities at fair 

value  

2023     

Fair value adjustment 0.0 2.9 0.0 8.4 

Derecognition 0.0 0.0 4.4 0.0 

Currency translation (0.4) 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Impairment losses (0.2) 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Other financial income 1.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Other finance costs 0.0 0.0 (11.2) 0.0 

2022     

Fair value adjustment 0.0 (0.8) 0.0 0.0 

Derecognition 0.0 0.0 6.8 0.0 

Currency translation (2.7) 0.0 (0.0) 0.0 

Impairment losses (0.1) 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Other financial income 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Other finance costs 0.0 0.0 (7.8) 0.0 

(31.) Risks from Financial Instruments 

Generally, the Group is exposed to risks of changes in interest rates, foreign currencies, 
liquidity and, with regard to assets, credit ratings and risks of default. 

Interest risk 

Enpal understands interest risk to be the risk of higher borrowing costs due to rising interest 
rates. The Enpal Group is exposed to interest risk for an asset-backed loan agreement with 
variable interest rate. As at the reporting date, Enpal has entered into interest rate swaps to 
hedge the interest risk which qualify as designated hedges and have developed as follows:  

EUR m 31 Dec 2023 Disposal group 31 Dec 2022 

Positive fair values 0.6 6.7 9.9 

Negative fair values (2.5) (11.5) (1.1) 

Fair value adjustment to the hedging instrument – 
designated risk 

(1.1) (3.2) 9.4 

OCI – cash flow hedge reserve (1.0) (2.2) (10.2) 

Ineffective portion of hedges posted through profit 
or loss – designated risk 

0.1 0.1 (1.6) 
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EUR m 2023 Disposal group 2022 

Fair value adjustment to the underlying (hypo)– 
designated risk 

1.0 3.0 (10.8) 

The hedged items in designated hedges caused a reduction in the cash flow hedge reserve 
of EUR 13.4m (2022: EUR 10.2m). 

The interest rate swaps are in designated hedges and accounted for as such. Ineffective 
hedges arise from a mismatch between the terms of the underlying and the hedging 
instrument. The contingent interest rate swap also contains a contingent premium that is 
not part of the hedged item and therefore a source of ineffectiveness. The changes in the 
fair value of the hedged items in designated hedges are calculated using the hypothetical 
derivative method. 

The sensitivity analyses presented below show how the fair values of the interest rate swaps 
would have changed had the interest rates been different on the reporting date. A change 
of more than 50 basis points was considered for those purposes. 

EUR m Change in the interest curve Change in the interest curve 

 2023 2023 2022 2022 

 +50 BP 

Shift 

-50 BP 

Shift 

+50 BP 

Shift 

-50 BP 

Shift 

Interest rate swaps 2.5 (2.6) 2.2 (2.2) 

Consequently, the interest curves show that if the parameters changed as assumed in the 
sensitivity analysis other reserves within equity would rise by EUR 2.5m or fall by EUR 2.6m 
(2022: rise by EUR 2.1m, fall by EUR 2.2m) and net income for the period rise by EUR 0.0m or 
fall by EUR 0.0m (2022: rise by EUR 0.0m, fall by EUR 0.0m). 

The interest swaps fall due between 2027 and 2053. They have nominal volumes of 
EUR 362.6m, of which EUR 240.3m is allocated to the disposal group (2022: EUR 141.0m). The 
average hedged interest rate comes to 3.61% and 2.61% for the disposal group (2022: 2.01%).  

Foreign currency risk 

A foreign currency risk arises from current bank deposits of EUR 26.8m denominated in USD. 
An increase of 10% in the foreign currency rate would have resulted in a foreign currency loss 
of EUR 2.4m(2022: EUR 2.5m), a decrease of 10% in the USD/EUR rate would have resulted in a 
foreign currency gain of EUR 3,0m (2022: EUR 3.1m).  

In order to hedge the risk from bank deposits denominated in USD, Enpal entered into FX 
forward agreements with a financial institute. No hedge accounting has been applied. An 
increase of 10% in the foreign currency rate would have resulted in a foreign currency gain 
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of EUR 2.4m(2022: EUR 2.5m), a decrease of 10% in the USD/EUR rate would have resulted in a 
foreign currency loss of EUR 3,0m 

Price risks 

Price risks arise from direct marketing agreements between Enpal and its customers. The 
risk can arise from declining electricity prices, which would reduce the margin generated by 
Enpal under these agreements. A decrease of 10% of the average electricity price would 
have resulted in a loss of EUR 1.1m, an increase of 10% of the average electricity price would 
have resulted in a gain of EUR 1.1m.  

Enpal manages the risk by contractually limiting its exposure as well as constant monitoring 
of the market.  

Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk refers to the risk that there may not be enough cash available to meet the 
financial obligations of the Enpal Group. The risk can arise from insufficient liquidity where it 
is needed, inaccurate cash flow projections or a one-sided investment strategy for the cash 
reserves of the Enpal Group. 

Enpal manages its liquidity risks by keeping sufficient cash, credit lines at banks and other 
facilities as well as day-to-day cash flow planning at the level of the Group.  

The table below presents the undiscounted contractually agreed cash outflows of the 
financial liabilities. Their allocation to the periods when the cash outflows will occur is based 
on the earliest possible date on which the cash outflows can occur. Any breach of the 
covenants agreed for the asset-backed loans could trigger an immediate repayment 
obligation. 

Financial liabilities by maturity as at 31 Dec 2023 

EUR m 
less than 1 

year 
between 1 

and 5 years 
over 5 years 

Total 
contractual 
cash flows 

Liabilities from direct marketing 
agreements 

5.7 3.1 0.0 8.8 

Interest swaps used in designated 
hedges 

0.1 1.3 1.5 3.0 

Convertible loan 0.0 16.4 0.0 16.4 

Liabilities to banks 67.7 0.0 0.0 67.7 

Asset-backed loans 9.6 84.7 53.9 148.2 

Trade payables 108.6 0.0 0.0 108.6 

Supplier finance liabilities 62.4 0.0 0.0 62.4 

Other financial liabilities 16.0 0.0 0.0 16.0 
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Disposal group     

Interest swaps used in designated 
hedges (0.4) 7.7 5.9 13.2 

Asset-backed loans 148.9 388.5 1,142.8 1,680.3 

Trade payables 6.9 0.0 0.0 6.9 

 

Financial liabilities by maturity as at 31 Dec 2022 

EUR m 
less than 1 

year 
between 1 

and 5 years 
over 5 years 

Total 
contractual 
cash flows 

Interest swaps used in designated 
hedges 

1.5 4.8 3.5 9.8 

Convertible loan 0.0 16.4 0.0 16.4 

Liabilities to banks 41.5 0.0 0.0 41.5 

Asset-backed loans 30.7 185.7 373.8 590.2 

Trade payables 98.3 0.0 0.0 98.3 

Supplier finance liabilities 30.2 0.0 0.0 30.2 

Other financial liabilities 10.6 0.0 0.0 10.6 
 

Credit risk 

Credit risk is understood to be the risk of customers or contractual partners defaulting on 
their payment obligations. Any defaults result in the recognition of impairment losses on 
assets, financial assets or receivables. These losses are limited to the carrying amount of 
the assets. Credit risks at Enpal relate mostly to lease and loan receivables. Based on the 
aging and past experiences, allowances are recognized for expected credit losses to cover 
the credit risk. Bad debts are written off in full by specific allowances.  

There are no significant concentrations of credit risks.  

In addition, there is also a credit risk attached to cash and cash equivalents in the event that 
financial institutes are no longer able to meet their obligations. The maximum credit risk 
corresponds to the carrying amount of the financial assets on the respective closing date. 
The Enpal Group counters this risk by distributing its bank deposits among various banks all 
of which have high credit ratings and using money market funds with AAA ratings. 

The following table presents the gross carrying amounts of lease and loan receivables by 
category of default: 

  



 

Annual Report | Consolidated Financial Statements |   68 

Rating Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

A 550.0 7.9 0.5 

B 333.1 6.1 0.4 

C 128.9 2.3 0.3 

D 110.5 3.3 0.3 

E 93.1 2.8 0.2 

F 69.9 2.9 0.1 

G 42.7 2.2 0.1 

H 12.6 1.1 0.1 

(32.) Capital Management 

The objective of the Enpal Group is to retain a strong equity and debt base in order to 
maintain the trust of investors and banks and secure the sustained development of the 
Enpal Group moving forward. Enpal pursues the objective of securing the capital needed for 
equity-funded growth of the Group and using asset-backed loans at matching terms. 

Based on the cash flow projections, the Group’s cash flows are monitored and any need for 
finance is identified at an early stage, allowing countermeasures to be initiated. Changes 
are analyzed at regular intervals and the necessary corrections made. In addition to the 
projected level of cash and cash equivalents carried by the subsidiaries, other indicators 
used to manage the Group are the financial covenants agreed on with the lenders. The most 
important covenants agreed on with the lenders entail the right of termination upon a 
change in ownership and the failure to attain the financial covenants linked to the financial 
indicators of the Group at the level of the separate entities. Should a breach of covenants 
trigger an immediate repayment obligation of the loans, this would lead to a liquidity risk 
(see the notes on asset-backed loans). All covenants were complied with during the 
reporting year and also during the prior year. 

(33.) Cash Flow Statement 

The increase in cash outflow from operating activities can be attributed to the higher 
business volume of the Enpal Group. The higher cash inflow from financing activities results 
mainly from the additional asset-backed loans. 

Changes in financial liabilities are presented in the following table: 
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EUR m 31 Dec 2022 Cash flow 
Non-cash 
additions 

(disposals) 

Non-cash 
income and 

expenses 

Transfer to 
disposal 

group 
31 Dec 2023 

Convertible 
loan 

11.2 0.0 (4.4) 4.4 0.0 11.2 

Bank loans 41.5 26.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 67.7 

Asset-
backed 
loans 

517.6 854.0 0.0 (19.2) (1,220.3) 132.2 

Lease 
liabilities 

11.7 (9.6) 28.6 0.4 0.0 31.2 

Total 582.1 870.6 24.2 (14.4) (1,220.3) 242.3 

 

EUR m 31 Dec 2021 Cash flow 
Non-cash 
additions 

(disposals) 

Non-cash 
income and 

expenses 
31 Dec 2022 

Convertible 
loan 

14.9 0.0 (6.8) 3.1 11.2 

Bank loans 12.0 29.6 0.0 0.0 41.5 

Asset-backed 
loans 

135.2 389.5 0.0 (7.1) 517.6 

Lease liabilities 5.3 (4.1) 13.4 (2.9) 11.7 

Total 167.4 415.0 6.6 (6.9) 582.1 

The liquidity presented under cash and cash equivalents comprises bank deposits, 
investments in money market funds and cash on hand, some of which is subject to 
restrictions on disposal (see the notes on cash and cash equivalents). 

(34.) Related Party Disclosures 

All related party transactions were made on terms equivalent to those that prevail in arm's 
length transactions. 

Transactions with shareholders 

A number of shareholders hold positions at other companies which result in these 
companies exercising control or significant influence over Enpal. MVK Asset Management 
GmbH exercises control. In the prior year, Picus Capital GmbH, Linus UK Facility Ltd. and 
Luktev GmbH exercised significant influence over Enpal. No party exercises significant 
influence in the financial year. 

Within the course of the Series D financing round, Enpal assumed costs of EUR 0.0m (2022: 
EUR 0.2m) on behalf of the shareholders, of which EUR 0.0m (2022: EUR 0.2m) was still 
outstanding on the reporting date.  
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Transactions with key management personnel 

Remuneration of key management personnel in accordance with IAS 24: 

EUR m 2023 2022 

Short-term employee benefits 2.5 0.9 

Share-based payment expenses 3.0 2.3 

Total 5.5 3.2 

The short-term employee benefits paid to management in key positions of the Group 
comprises their salaries and fringe benefits paid in kind. In the financial year, share-based 
payment expenses also comprise an one-off effect from extraordinary early exercise of 
virtual shares. 

MVK Asset Management GmbH is controlled by Mario Kohle, who holds a key management 
position. This company exercises control over the Group. Members of management in key 
positions hold 31% (2022: 37%) of the shares in Enpal B.V. 

Related party transactions 

getpress GmbH, a related party, rendered consulting services of EUR 0.1m (2022: EUR 0.1m).  

(35.) Auditor’s fees 

The fee for audit services charged by the KPMG group, amounts to EUR 0.8m (2022: 
EUR 0.4m). This comprises the fee for the audit of the consolidated financial statements and 
the financial statements of Enpal B.V. as well as the financial statements of six subsidiaries. 
Extra costs were recognized in the financial year for the audit of the prior year’s financial 
statements.  

(36.) Subsequent events 

In December 2023 Enpal entered into a share purchase agreement to sell the majority of its 
shares in Enpal Green Future Holding GmbH and Enpal Green Solutions Holding GmbH (the 
“sale of financing entities”) and the majority of the shareholder loans granted from Enpal 
B.V. to Enpal Green Future Holding GmbH and Enpal Green Solutions Holding GmbH. The 
transaction consists of four closings. In the first closing, which took place on the 
2 January 2024, Enpal sold 90% of its shares in Enpal Green Solutions Holding GmbH and 49% 
of its shares in Enpal Green Future Holding GmbH. In addition, 80% of the shareholder loans 
granted to Enpal Green Solutions Holding GmbH and 90% of the shareholder loans granted 
to Enpal Green Future Holding GmbH as per 31 December 2023 have been sold. In the second 
closing, which took place on the 15 March 2024, Enpal has sold 41% of shares in Enpal Green 
Future Holding GmbH and further shareholder loans. The third closing took place on 14 May 
2024. Under the third closing Enpal sold 90% of its existing shareholder loans granted to 
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Enpal Green Solutions Holding GmbH as of the closing date. Management expects the 
completion of the remaining closings during 2024. 

In March 2024 revolving credit facilities in the amount of EUR 75.0m were extended until end 
of the year.  

On 29 April 2024 Enpal B.V. entered into an investment agreement relating to the joint 
venture Flexa GmbH (“Flexa”), where Enpal B.V. acquired 65% of the shares. The remaining 
shares are held by Entrix GmbH, München. Enpal committed to provide funding both via 
equity contributions as well as shareholder loans. Further, on 29 April 2024 Enpal increased 
the share in Entrix GmbH to 15.7%.  

On 23 May 2024 Enpal B.V. entered into a share purchase agreement to acquire 100% of 
Enpal China Ltd for EUR 0.3m. The closing is conditional of completion of the registration of 
the share transfer with the Chinese authorities. Any consideration payable from Enpal B.V. 
will be reflected in equity, since Enpal China Ltd. has been controlled since 2020. 
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Separate Financial Statements 

Separate Statement of Financial Position as at 
31 December 2023 

(Before appropriation of result) 
EUR m Note 31 Dec 2023 31 Dec 2022 

Fixed assets   362.5  153.6  

Intangible fixed assets (6) 5.4  2.7  

Tangible fixed assets (7) 43.4 21.5  

Financial fixed assets (8) 313.7 129.4 

Current assets   670.7 350.9 

Inventories (9) 182.5 129.0 

Trade and other receivables (10) 239.0 68.0 

Cash and cash equivalents (11) 249.1 153.9 

Total assets   1,033.1 504.5 
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EUR m Note 31 Dec 2023 31 Dec 2022 

Equity  441.4 252.0 

Issued capital (12) 0.1  0.1  

Share premium (12) 492.3  293.0  

Legal reserve (12) 5.1  2.5  

Retained earnings (12) (43.7) (66.1) 

Result of the year (12) (12.3) 22.5  

Provisions  23.1 15.1 

Provisions (13) 23.1 15.1 

Non-current liabilities   22.4 15.0 

Convertible loan (14) 11.2 11.2 

Lease liabilities (7) 11.2 3.8 

Current liabilities   546.2 222.4 

Bank loans (15) 67.7 41.5 

Lease liabilities (7)  2.2 5.7 

Trade payables (16) 399.3 135.6 

Supplier finance liabilities (17) 62.4 30.2 

Income tax liabilities   0.7 2.0 

Other financial liabilities (18) 13.3 0.9 

Other non-financial liabilities (19) 0.7 6.5 

Total equity and liabilities   1,033.1 504.5 

The notes on pages 12 to 71 are an integral part of these separate financial statements 
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Separate Statement of Profit or Loss for Financial Year 2023 

EUR m Note 2023 2022 

Share in results from participating interests, after taxation (2) 9.0  (9.6) 

Other income and expenses, after taxation (3) (21.3) 32.2  

Net profit (loss) for the period   (12.3) 22.5  

The notes on pages 12 to 71 are an integral part of these separate financial statements. 
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Notes to the Separate Financial Statements for Financial Year 
2023 

1 General Remarks 

These separate financial statements and the consolidated financial statements together 
constitute the statutory financial statements of Enpal B.V. (“Enpal”). The financial 
information of Enpal is included in Enpal’s consolidated financial statements, as presented 
on pages 5 to 71. 

Enpal GmbH changed its legal form to Enpal B.V. on 24 January 2023. The place of 
management remains in Berlin. The separate financial statements for the year ended 
31 December 2022 were prepared in accordance with the requirements of the German 
Commercial Code (“HGB”) and the German law on limited liability companies (“GmbHG”). 
As a result of the change of the legal form Enpal B.V. is required to apply Dutch law to their 
consolidated and separate financial statements as from financial year 2023. Enpal has 
elected to apply Combination 3 to their financial statements. 

Enpal B.V. is the parent company of the Enpal Group. The consolidated financial statements 
of Enpal B.V. have been prepared on the basis of International Financial Reporting Standards 
as adopted by the European Union. The separate financial statements therefore are 
prepared using consolidated financial statements policies for recognition and 
measurement and Dutch GAAP requirements for presentation and disclosure. 

The figures for the prior year have been reclassified to enable comparability with the 
financial year.  

The reconciliation of the items in the statement of financial position that are presented 
differently as a result of the change in accounting policy is shown in the table below: 

EUR m Note 31 Dec 2022 1 Jan 2022 

  
HGB 

before 
reclass 

Change HGB  
HGB 

before 
reclass 

Change HGB  

Current assets        

Inventory A 133.6  (4.6) 129.0  33.6  (1.4) 32.2  

Trade and other 
receivables 

A, 
B,C 

58.3 0.4 58.7 28.8 1.8 30.6 

Prepaid expenses B 2.2 (2.2) 0.0 1.0 (1.0) 0.0 

Securities D 34.7 (34.7) 0.0 165.5 (165.5) 0.0 

Cash and bank 
balances 

D 119.2 34.7 153.9 22.0 165.5 187.5 

Provisions        

Provisions E,F,G 32.3 (16.5) 15.8 6.4 (1.9) 4.5 
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Non-current 
liabilities 

       

Convertible loan H 0.0 16.0 16.0    

Current liabilities        

Convertible loan H    0.0 15.6 15.6 

Trade payables E,I 79.0 56.6 135.6 15.1 8.4 23.5 

Supplier finance 
liabilities 

J 0.0 30.2 30.2 0.0 12.1 12.1 

Income tax liabilities F 0.0 2.0 2.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Liabilities to affiliated 
companies 

I 43.4 (43.4) 0.0 7.5 (7.5) 0.0 

Other financial 
liabilities 

G 0.0 1.2 1.2 0.0 1.7 1.7 

Other non-financial 
liabilities 

C, H, 
J 

59.5 (52.3) 7.1 29.2 (28.8) 0.4 

The following differences in presentation apply under IFRS compared to HGB: 

A. Prepayments on inventories are presented within trade and other receivables under IFRS 
whereas they were presented within inventories under HGB.  

B. Prepaid expenses were separately presented under HGB. Under IFRS they are included in 
trade and other receivables. 

C. Input tax receivables are offset against output tax payables under IFRS. 
D. Cash and cash equivalents under IFRS comprise money market funds whereas they 

were presented separately under HGB. 
E. Accruals for outstanding invoices were included in provisions under HGB. They are 

presented within trade payables under IFRS. 
F. Income tax liabilities were included in provisions under HGB. They are presented as 

separate item under IFRS. 
G. Personnel-related liabilities were included in provisions under HGB. They are presented 

within other financial liabilities under IFRS. 
H. Convertible loans are presented separately under IFRS whereas they were included in 

other liabilities under HBG. 
I. Liabilities towards affiliated companies were presented separately under HGB. Under 

IFRS they are included in trade payables. 
J. Supplier finance liabilities are presented separately under IFRS whereas they were 

included in other liabilities under HBG. 
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The reconciliation of the items in the statement of financial position that have changed as 
a result of the change in accounting policy is presented below: 

EUR m Note 31 Dec 2022 1 Jan 2022 

  HGB Change IFRS HGB Change IFRS 

Fixed assets         
Tangible fixed assets K 12.0  9.5  21.5  2.4  4.7  7.1  
Financial fixed assets L,M,N 126.0  3.5  129.4  46.9  (0.9) 45.9  

Current assets        

Trade and other 
receivables 

O 58.7  9.2  68.0  30.6  (0.1) 30.7  

Equity         

Share premium O 293.8  (0.8) 293.0  293.8  (4.9) 288.9  

Legal reserve P 0.0  2.5  2.5  0.0  1.8  1.8  

Provisions        

Provisions L 15.8  0.7 15.1  4.5 2.6 7.1  
Non-current 
liabilities 

        

Convertible loan Q 16.0  (4.8) 11.2     

Lease liabilities K 0.0  3.8  3.8  0.0  2.4  2.4  

Current liabilities        

Convertible loans Q    15.6  (0.7) 14.9  

Lease liabilities K 0.0  5.7  5.7  0.0  2.3  2.3  

Other current 
financial liabilities 

M 1.2  (0.3) 0.9  1.7  (0.4) 7.3  

Other current non-
financial liabilities 

M 7.1  (0.6) 6.5  0.4  0.0 0.4  

The reconciliation of the impact on the statement of profit or loss is presented below: 

EUR m Note 31 Dec 2022 

  HGB Change IFRS 

Share in results from participating interests B (2.5) (7.1) (9.6) 
Other income and expenses, after taxation  3.5 28.7 32.2 
Profit (loss) for the period  1.0 21.5 22.5 
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The following IFRS principles are mainly impacting the differences in the presentation of the 
financial statements compared to HGB: 

K. Leases are measured in accordance with IFRS 16 Leases (refer to material accounting 
policies section in the notes to the consolidated financial statements). Under HGB no 
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities were recorded.  

L. Shares in group companies and loans to such entities are accounted for using the equity 
method. (refer to the accounting policies section in the notes to the separate financial 
statements). Further, if required provisions are recorded with respect to participating 
interests. Under HGB shares in group companies and loans to group companies were 
measured at cost. 

M. Cost to obtain customer contracts and contract liabilities are capitalized in accordance 
with IFRS 15 (refer to material accounting policies section in the notes to the consolidated 
financial statements) whereas they were expensed under HGB. 

N. Deferred taxes are measured in accordance with IAS 12 (refer to material accounting 
policies section in the notes to the consolidated financial statements) whereas under 
HGB deferred tax assets were not recognized.  

O. Incremental costs directly attributable to issuing new equity are accounted for as a 
deduction from equity under IFRS (refer to material accounting policies section in the 
notes to the consolidated financial statements). The cost for Series D were deferred in 
financial year 2022 and therefore recognized within trade and other receivables. They 
were deducted from equity in 2023. Under HGB such costs were expensed in financial 
year 2022. 

P. Legal reserves for development costs are set-up in accordance with the Dutch Civil 
Code. 

Q. The conversion feature is separately recorded under IFRS (refer to material accounting 
policies section in the notes to the consolidated financial statements). Under HGB the 
conversion feature is not accounted for separately, further the effective interest rate 
method is not utilized under HGB.  

The impact of the changes in accounting policies in the financial year is as follows: 

• Profit (loss) for the period: EUR 9.6m 
• Impact on the opening equity as at 1 January 2023 as a result of restating 

comparative figures: EUR 19.1m 
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2 Basis of preparation 

These separate financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Title 9, Book 2 
of the Dutch Civil Code. For setting the principles for the recognition and measurement of 
assets and liabilities and determination of results for its separate financial statements, Enpal 
makes use of the option provided in article 2:362(8) of the Dutch Civil Code. This means that 
the principles for the recognition and measurement of assets and liabilities and 
determination of the result of the separate financial statements of Enpal are the same as 
those applied for the consolidated financial statements. These principles also include the 
classification and presentation of financial instruments, being equity instruments or 
financial liabilities. In case no other principles are mentioned, refer to the accounting 
principles as described in the notes to the consolidated financial statements. For an 
appropriate interpretation of these statutory financial statements, the separate financial 
statements should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements. 

Information on the use of financial instruments and on related risks for the group is provided 
in the notes to the consolidated financial statements of the group. 

All amounts in the financial statements are presented in EUR million, unless stated otherwise. 

Participating interests in group companies 

Group companies are all entities in which Enpal has directly or indirectly control. 
Participating interests in group companies are accounted for according to the equity 
method, with the principles for the recognition and measurement of assets and liabilities 
and determination of results as set out in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.  

Participating interests with a negative net asset value are valued at nil. This measurement 
also covers any receivables provided to the participating interests that are, in substance, 
an extension of the net investment. In particular, this relates to loans for which settlement is 
neither planned nor likely to occur in the foreseeable future. A share in the profits of the 
participating interest in subsequent years will only be recognized if and to the extent that 
the cumulative unrecognized share of loss has been absorbed. If Enpal fully or partially 
guarantees the debts of the relevant participating interest, or if has the constructive 
obligation to enable the participating interest to pay its debts (for its share therein), then a 
provision is recognized accordingly to the amount of the estimated payments Enpal on 
behalf of the participating interest. 

Share of result of participating interests 

The share in the result of participating interests consists of the share of Enpal in the result of 
the participating interests. Results on transactions involving the transfer of assets and 
liabilities between Enpal and its participating interests and mutually between participating 
interests themselves, are eliminated to the extent that they can be considered as not 
realized.  
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Corporate income tax 

Enpal is the head of the fiscal unity with Enpal Sales GmbH. Enpal recognizes the portion of 
corporate income tax that it would owe as an independent taxpayer, taking into account 
the allocation of the advantages of the fiscal unity. Settlement within the fiscal unity 
between Enpal and its subsidiary takes place through current account positions. 

Enpal has assessed the expected impact of the Pillar 2 - global minimum top-up tax and 
notes that the separate financial statements are not impacted due to the local effective tax 
rate that is higher than 15 percent and the entity has not paid any Pillar 2 top-up tax on 
behalf of other entities in the group. Also, no Pillar 2 top-up tax has been recharged to the 
entity. 

3 Notes to the Separate Financial Statements 

(1.) Net Turnover 

The following table summarizes the total revenue by product type:  

EUR m 2023 2022 

Sale of photovoltaic systems 597.0 280.2 

Sale of battery storages 215.3 96.3 

Sale of electric vehicle charging systems 48.0 31.2 

Sales of heat pumps 28.4 0.4 

Sale of components to installers 6.1 0.0 

Sale of meter cabinets 1.8 3.1 

Other sales (1.2) 1.0 

 Total  895.5 412.3 

Other sales include discounts to customers, sale of other products to customers and other 
revenue charges to subsidiaries. Turnover is primarily generated in Germany.  

(2.) Share in Results from Participating Interests 

An amount of EUR 9.0m (2022: EUR (9.6m)) of share in results from participating interests 
relates to group companies. 
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(3.) Other Income and Expenses 

The following table displays the composition of other income and expenses, after taxation: 

EUR m 2023 2022 

Net turnover 895.5 412.3 

Cost of sales (703.4) (280.1) 

Selling expenses (104.3) (68.0) 

Administrative expenses (98.7) (44.0) 

Other operating income/(expenses) 1.8 3.8 

Financial result (12.2) (2.8) 

Taxes on income 0.1 11.0 

Total (21.3) 32.2 

(4.) Employee Benefits  

Wages and salaries and social security charges relating to the employees of Enpal are as 
follows: 

EUR m  2023 2022 

Wages and salaries 40.3 27.8 

Social security charges 6.4 3.4 

Total  46.7 31.2 

Wages and salaries include an amount of EUR 5.1m (2022: EUR 0.2m) for virtual share options. 
There are no pension plans in place.  

(5.) Number of Employees 

Enpal employed an average of 609 employees (2022: 473). All employees were employed 
outside the Netherlands and can be divided into the following staff categories: 

 2023 2022 

Administration 379 202 

Development 129 63 

Production 54 79 

Sales 47 129 

Total 609 473 

(6.) Intangible Fixed Assets 

Please refer to the intangible fixed assets paragraph in the notes to the consolidated 
financial statements. 
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(7.) Tangible Fixed Assets 

The following table presents the development of property, plant and equipment: 

EUR m 
Smart 

electricity 
meters 

Safety 
scaffolding 

and tools 

Computer 
hardware and 

other office 
equipment 

Pre-
payments 

Total 

Historical cost: 

1 Jan 2023 5.0 5.2 3.2 0.0 13.4 

Additions 12.5 8.3 4.4 0.3 25.5 

Disposal 0.0 (2.6) (2.7) (0.0) (5.3) 

31 Dec 2023 17.5 10.9 5.0 0.3 33.7 

Accumulated depreciation and impairment:  

1 Jan 2023 (0.3) (0.3) (0.7) (0.0) (1.4) 

Depreciation (1.2) (0.8) (1.7) (0.0) (3.7) 

Disposals 0.0 0.4 1.1 0.0 1.4 

31 Dec 2023 (1.5) (0.8) (1.4) (0.0) (3.7) 

Carrying amount:      

1 Jan 2023 4.7 4.9 2.5 0.0 12.0 

31 Dec 2023 15.9 10.2 3.6 0.3 30.1 

 

EUR m 
Smart 

electricity 
meters 

Safety 
scaffolding 

and tools 

Computer 
hardware and 

other office 
equipment 

Pre-
payments 

Total 

Historical cost: 

1 Jan 2022 0.8 1.0 1.0 0.1 2.9 

Additions 4.2 4.0 2.2 0.0 10.4 

Reclassifications 0.0 0.1 0.0 (0.1) 0.0 

31 Dec 2022 5.0 5.2 3.2 0.0 13.4 

Accumulated depreciation and impairment:  

1 Jan 2022 (0.0) (0.1) (0.5) (0.0) (0.6) 

Depreciation  (0.3) (0.2) (0.3) (0.0) (0.8) 

31 Dec 2022 (0.3) (0.3) (0.7) (0.0) (1.4) 

Carrying amount:      

1 Jan 2022 0.8 0.9 0.5 0.1 2.4 

31 Dec 2022 4.7 4.9 2.5 0.0 12.0 
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Enpal acts as a meter operator and therefore recognizes the smart electricity meters 
installed at its customers under its own property, plant and equipment. 

Enpal had entered into purchase commitments of EUR 17.4m (2022: EUR 6.0m) for property, 
plant and equipment. 

The following table presents the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets and their 
development: 

EUR m Offices Warehouses Vehicles 
Computer 
hardware 

Total 

1 Jan 2022 4.4 0.0 0.3 0.0 4.7 

Additions 3.0 2.4 0.0 2.9 8.3 

Depreciation (2.8) (0.1) (0.1) (0.7) (3.7) 

31 Dec 2022 4.6 2.3 0.2 2.2 9.3 

Additions 8.9 0.5 0.0 1.7 11.1 

Depreciation  (5.0) (0.6) (0.1) (1.6) (7.4) 

Disposals 0.0 0.0 0.0 (0.1) (0.1) 

31 Dec 2023 8.5 2.1 0.1 2.4 13.2 

The increase in right-of-use assets is primarily due to the lease of additional offices and 
warehouses. The increase is mainly offset by the impact of a lease contract modification for 
an office. In addition, computer hardware such as laptops and smartphones have been 
leased. There are no indications that right-of-use assets are impaired.  

The following table presents the carrying amounts of lease liabilities and their development: 

EUR m Offices Warehouses Vehicles 
Computer 
hardware 

Total 

1 Jan 2022 1.5 0.0 0.3 0.0 1.8 

Additions 3.0 2.4 0.0 2.9 8.3 

Interest expenses on 
lease liabilities  

0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 

Cash outflows for leases  (2.8) (0.1) (0.1) (0.7) (3.7) 

Contract modification 2.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 2.9 

31 Dec 2022 4.6 2.3 0.2 2.3 9.4 

Additions 8.6 0.5 0.0 1.7 10.9 

Interest expenses on 
lease liabilities  

0.2 0.1 0.0 0.1 0.3 

Cash outflows for leases  (5.0) (0.7) (0.1) (1.5) (7.3) 

31 Dec 2023 8.4 2.2 0.1 2.5 13.3 

The due dates of lease liabilities are presented below. The figures are based on contractual 
undiscounted payments: 
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EUR m 31 Dec 2023 31 Dec 2022 

< 1 year 8.2 5.9 

1 to 5 years 5.6 4.2 

> 5 years 0.0 0.0 

Total 13.8 10.1 

In addition to depreciation, the following amounts were posted through profit or loss: 

EUR m 2023 2022 

Interest expenses on lease liabilities  0.3 0.1 

Expenses for short-term leases  0.8 0.0 

Expenses for leases of low-value assets  0.5 2.0 

Total 1.7 2.1 

No variable lease payments were due in the financial year or in the prior year. The lease 
agreements for vehicles do not include any options to prolong or terminate the lease. Enpal 
has considered the options included in the leases for offices, warehouses and computer 
hardware. 

The following table presents the undiscounted potential lease payments for periods after 
the date on which unilateral options to prolong or terminate a lease can be exercised that 
are not considered in the term of the lease and lease payments for contracts that have not 
yet commenced but agreed: 

EUR m < 1 year 1 to 5 years > 5 years Total 

Renewal options that are not 
expected to be exercised 

0.1 9.8 5.0 14.9 

Leases that have been entered into 
by the lessee but have not yet 
commenced 

0.0 21.0 44.8 65.8 

Total 0.1 30.8 49.8 80.7 
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(8.) Financial Fixed Assets 

EUR m 

Partici-
pating 

interests 
in group 
compan

ies 

Other 
partici-

pating 
interests 

Loans to 
group 

compan
ies 

Other 
Securite

s 

Deferred 
tax 

assets 

Other 
recei-

vables 
Total 

1 Jan 2023  

Cost of 
acquisition 

1.8  0.0  123.4  0.0  0.0  2.9  128.1  

Accumulated 
revaluations 

11.3  0.0  (22.9) 0.0  13.0  0.0  1.3  

Carrying 
amount: 

13.1  0.0  100.4  0.0  13.0  2.9  129.4  

Changes during the financial year:  

Investments and 
loans provided 

1.2  2.0  273.3  0.0  0.0 4.3  280.8  

Repayment of 
loans 

0.0 0.0 (108.3) 0.0 0.0 0.0 (108.3) 

Impairments 0.0 0.0 (7.4)  0.0  0.0 0.0 (7.4) 

Revaluations 0.0  0.0 0.0 0.6  3.7   0.0 4.3  

Share in result of 
participating 
interests 

12.2 0.0 2.8  0.0  0.0 0.0 15.0 

Total changes 13.3  2.0  160.5  0.6  3.7  4.3  184.3  

31 Dec 2023  

Cost of 
acquisition 

3.0  2.0  281.0  0.0 0.0 7.2  293.2  

Accumulated 
impairments 

0.0 0.0 (7.4)  0.0  0.0 0.0 (7.4) 

Accumulated 
revaluations 

23.4  0.0 (12.7) 0.6  16.7  0.0 27.9  

Carrying 
amount: 

26.4  2.0  260.9  0.6  16.7  7.2  313.7  

For details on the deferred tax assets, reference is made income tax paragraph in the notes 
to the consolidated financial statements. 

Some participating interests have a negative net asset value and are valued at nil without 
a provision being recognized, because the company does not fully or partially guarantee 
the debts of those participating interests and has no constructive obligation to support 
those participating interests to pay their debts. Enpal's share in the negative equity value of 
participating interests amounts to EUR 0.4m (2022: EUR 0.0m). The unrecognized share of 
the losses during the financial year amounts to EUR 10.7m (2022: EUR 7.4m). The 
unrecognized accumulated losses of participating interests amount to EUR 23.9m (2022: EUR 
5.5m) on the reporting date. 
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Enpal is the parent company and has the following financial interests in group companies: 

Entity Registered offices Share in capital 

Consolidated participating interests   

engea Wallbox GmbH Berlin (Germany) 100% 

Enpal Albania Shpk Tirane (Albania) 100% 

Enpal Asset Management GmbH Berlin (Germany) 100% 

Enpal B.H. d.o.o. Sarajevo (Bosnia) 100% 

Enpal China Ltd. Shenzhen (China) 0% 

Enpal Dragon GmbH Berlin (Germany) 100% 

Enpal Enablement GmbH Berlin (Germany) 100% 

Enpal Energy GmbH Berlin (Germany) 100% 

Enpal ezee GmbH Berlin (Germany) 70% 

Enpal Field&Partner Sales GmbH (until 
7 July 2023 Enpal Ident GmbH) 

Berlin (Germany) 100% 

Enpal Financial Services Holding 
GmbH  

Berlin (Germany) 100% 

Enpal Green Advantage Holding 
GmbH 

Schönefeld (Germany) 100% 

Enpal Green Future Holding GmbH Schönefeld (Germany) 100% 

Enpal Green Innovations Holding 
GmbH 

Berlin (Germany) 100% 

Enpal Green Solutions Holding GmbH Schönefeld (Germany) 100% 

Enpal Green Technologies Holding 
GmbH 

Berlin (Germany) 100% 

Enpal Green Vision Holding GmbH Schönefeld (Germany) 100% 

Enpal Grid Operations GmbH Berlin (Germany) 100% 

Enpal Installation Nord GmbH* Erfurt (Germany) 100% 

Enpal Installation Süd GmbH* Erfurt (Germany) 100% 

Enpal Italia S.r.l. Milan (Italy) 100% 

Enpal Montage Berlin/Brandenburg 
GmbH 

Blankenfelde-Mahlow (Germany) 100% 

Enpal Montage GmbH Berlin (Germany) 100% 

Enpal Montage Hamburg GmbH Berlin (Germany) 100% 

Enpal Montage Hannover GmbH Hannover (Germany) 100% 

Enpal Montage Köln GmbH Troisdorf (Germany) 100% 

Enpal Montage Nürnberg GmbH Ansbach (Germany) 100% 

Enpal Montage Rhein/Main GmbH Mainz (Germany) 100% 
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Enpal Planning GmbH Berlin (Germany) 100% 

Enpal Pro GmbH (until 12 July 2023 
Enpal Production GmbH) 

Berlin (Germany) 100% 

Enpal Sales Enablement GmbH Berlin (Germany) 100% 

Enpal Sales GmbH Berlin (Germany) 100% 

Enpal Sales NRW GmbH Essen (Germany) 100% 

Enpal Sales Sachsen GmbH Berlin (Germany) 100% 

Enpal Sales Support GmbH Berlin (Germany) 100% 

Enpal Services GmbH Berlin (Germany) 100% 

Enpal South Africa (PTY) Ltd. Cape Town (South Africa) 100% 

Enpal Supply Chain GmbH Berlin (Germany) 100% 

Enpal Tech GmbH Berlin (Germany) 100% 

Enpal24 GmbH* 
(until 5 October 2023 Enpal Sales 
Berlin/Brandenburg GmbH) 

Berlin (Germany) 100%  

Green Finance Solution SA Luxembourg (Luxembourg) 0% 

 

Other participating interests, including non-consolidated and indirect participating interests 

Enpal ezee Benefit GmbH Berlin (Germany) 70% 

Enpal ezee Benefit II GmbH Schönefeld (Germany) 100% 

Enpal ezee Benefit III GmbH Berlin (Germany) 70% 

Enpal Financial Services Deutschland 
GmbH  

Berlin (Germany) 100% 

Enpal Green Advantage GmbH Schönefeld (Germany) 100% 

Enpal Green Future I GmbH Schönefeld (Germany) 100% 

Enpal Green Innovations I GmbH Berlin (Germany) 100% 

Enpal Green Solutions I GmbH Schönefeld (Germany) 100% 

Enpal Green Technologies I GmbH Berlin (Germany) 100% 

Enpal Green Vision GmbH Schönefeld (Germany) 100% 

Ezee Benefit GmbH Geislingen (Germany) 70% 

Enpal can exercise significant influence over Enpal China Ltd and Green Finance Solution SA 
as a result from contractually secured rights despite the fact that Enpal does not hold a 
majority of the voting rights. 
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(9.) Inventories 

Inventories consist of the following items: 

EUR m 31 Dec 2023 31 Dec 2022 

Raw materials, consumables and supplies 152.0 104.5 

Unfinished photovoltaic systems, battery storages, electric vehicle 
charging 
 systems and heat pumps 

30.5 24.5 

Total 182.5 129.0 

The cost of inventories recognized under the cost of sales in the financial year amounts to 
EUR 326.8m (2022: EUR 167.4m). Materials of EUR 4.1m have been impaired by EUR 1.9m. 

(10.) Trade and other Receivables 

EUR m 31 Dec 2023 31 Dec 2022 

Shareholder loans to financing entities within the group 128.6 0.0 

Trade receivables 71.5 51.5 

Input tax receivables 30.9 0.1 

Prepaid expenses and deferred charges 4.8 11.3 

Convertible loan 2.0 0.0 

Advance payments on inventories 0.3 4.6 

Security deposits 0.2 0.2 

Other current financial assets 0.7 0.2 

Other financial assets 239.0 68.0 

Trade receivables of EUR 68.7m (2022: EUR 41.7m) result from transactions with group 
companies. Shareholder loans to financing entities within the group were reclassified to 
current trade and other receivables, as those shareholder loans are subject to a sale within 
one year after the reporting date.  

All receivables have a maturity less than one year. The carrying values of the recorded 
receivables are a reasonable approximation of their respective fair values, given the short 
maturities of the positions. No allowances for doubtful debts have been recognized in the 
current nor the previous financial year as all receivables are most likely to be collected.  

(11.) Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise current bank deposits denominated in EUR, deposits 
of EUR 26.8m (2022: EUR 27.3m) denominated in USD, investments in money market funds of 
EUR 119.1m (2022: EUR 34.7m), and, to a minor extent, cash on hand. 
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As at the reporting date, current bank deposits of EUR 5.4m (2022: EUR 7.9m) were subject to 
restricted disposal. Of this amount, EUR 0.2m (2022: EUR 1.2m) was pledged to the lessors of 
real estate and EUR 5.2m (2022: EUR 6.7m) were placed on special-purpose accounts for the 
purchase of materials. 

(12.) Shareholders’ Equity 

A reconciliation of movements in equity is presented in the following table: 

EUR m 
Issued 
capital 

Share 
premium 

Other 
legal 

reserves 

Retained 
earnings 

Result for 
the year 

Equity 

1 Jan 2022 0.1 288.9 1.8 (61.2) 0.0  229.5 

Profit (loss) for the 
period 

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 22.5 22.5 

Conversion option 0.0 4.1  0.0 (4.1) 0.0 0.0 

Additions to other 
legal reserves 

0.0 0.0  0.7 (0.7) 0.0 0.0 

31 Dec 2022 0.1 293.0 2.5 (66.1) 22.5 252.0 

Appropriation of result 0.0 0.0 0.0 22.5 (22.5) 0.0 

Profit (loss) for the 
period 

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 (12.3) (12.3) 

Capital increase 0.0 208.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 208.0 

Transaction cost for 
capital increase 

0.0 (6.3) 0.0 0.0 0.0 (6.3) 

Conversion option 0.0 (2.4) 0.0  2.4 0.0  0.0 

Additions to other 
legal reserves 

0.0 0.0  2.6 (2.6) 0.0 0.0 

31 Dec 2023 0.1 492.3 5.1 (43.7) (12.3) 441.4 

Issued capital amounts to EUR 0.1m (2022: EUR 0.1m) with a face value of EUR 1.00 per share. 
66,337 shares have been issued (2022: 66,337), of which 41,152 are preference shares that 
are equipped with preferential treatment in the event of an exit, meaning any proceeds from 
liquidation are paid to these shareholders first. In addition, special shares exist, which as 
long as they are hold by a founder or founding company, entitle the holder to cast two votes 
per special share. Cash of EUR 7k was received in the prior year for an increase of issued 
capital due to the Series D financing round. Further EUR 208.0m increase in share premium 
were received in the financial year. The issue of new shares and the capital increase related 
to the Series D financing round and were notarized on 19 December 2022 and entered in the 
commercial register on 19 January 2023. Transaction costs of EUR 9.0m for this capital 
increase were recognized under other non-financial assets in the prior year and have been 
offset against the share premium in the financial year. 

As in the prior year, the terms and conditions of the convertible loan were modified on 
2 December 2023 (2022: 4 February 2022). The term of the loan was extended, and the 
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interest rate reduced, leading to a lower value for the conversion right, which was already 
recognized in share premium in the prior years. The share premium decreased by EUR 2.4m 
(2022: EUR 4.1m) on account of this modification. Retained earnings were increased by the 
same amount (please refer to the convertible loan paragraph in the notes to the 
consolidated financial statements). 

Other legal reserves consist of a legal reserve for capitalized development costs of EUR 5.1m 
(2022: EUR 2.5m). 

The retained earnings consist of the accumulated profits or losses per the reporting date. 

Unappropriated result 

Appropriation of profit 2022 

The financial statements for the financial year 2022 have been adopted by the Shareholders 
on 20 October 2023. The Shareholders adopted the appropriation of profit after tax as 
proposed by the executive directors. 

Proposal for loss appropriation 2023 

The executive directors propose to the Shareholders to appropriate the losses in the 
retained earnings.  

The following table presents the reconciliation of shareholders’ equity and net result per the 
consolidated financial statements with shareholders’ equity and net result per the separate 
financial statements: 

EUR m 31 Dec 2023 31 Dec 2022 

Shareholders’ equity according to the consolidated statement 
of financial position 

424.8  251.0  

Cumulative effects beginning of the year  1.0 3.4  

Profit (loss) for the period  5.7 4.7  

Cash flow hedges 9.9 (6.9) 

Other (0.1) (0.1) 

Shareholders’ equity according to the separate statement of 
financial position 

441.4 252.0 

 

EUR m 2023 2022 

Profit (loss) for the period in the consolidated financial 
statements 

(18.1)  15.1  

Impairments of loans to participating interests (7.4)  0.0 

Unrealized losses of participating interests 10.7 7.4 

Intra-profit elimination  2.2 0.0 

Reconciliation consolidation of earnings and expenses 0.2 0.0 

Profit (loss) for the period in the separate financial statements (12.3) 22.5 
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(13.) Provisions 

Provisions developed as follows: 

EUR m 1 Jan 2023 Utilization Additions 31 Dec 2023 

Share-based payments 10.6 0.0 2.6 13.2 

Warranty provisions 3.9 (3.9) 0.8 0.8 

Provision for participating interests 0.4 0.0 8.5 8.9 

Other provisions 0.3 0.0 0.0 0.3 

Total 15.1 (3.9) 11.9 23.1 

Warranty and other provisions are short-term. Provisions for share-based payments of 
EUR 0.6m (2022: EUR 0.4m) are short-term. 

(14.) Convertible Loan 

Please refer to the convertible loan paragraph in the notes to the consolidated financial 
statements. 

(15.) Bank Loans 

Please refer to the bank loans paragraph in the notes to the consolidated financial 
statements. 

(16.) Trade Payables 

An amount of EUR 303.8m (2022: EUR 43.3m) relates to trade payables from group 
companies. 

All trade payables have an estimated maturity shorter than one year. The carrying values 
of the recorded payables are a reasonable approximation of their respective fair values, 
given the short maturities of the positions. 

(17.) Supplier Finance Liabilities 

Please refer to the supplier finance liabilities paragraph in the notes to the consolidated 
financial statements. 
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(18.) Other Financial Liabilities 

Other financial liabilities break down as follows:  

EUR m 31 Dec 2023 31 Dec 2022 

Liabilities from subsidiaries 10.8 0.2 

Liabilities towards employees 1.8 0.6 

Other current financial liabilities 0.8 0.1 

Total 13.3 0.9 

(19.) Other Non-Financial Liabilities 

Other non-financial liabilities include payroll taxes in the amount of EUR 0.7m (2022: 
EUR 0.5m). In the prior year the other non-financial liabilities consisted of EUR 6.0m sales tax 
liabilities. 

(20.) Share-Based Payments 

Please refer to the share-based payments paragraph in the notes to the consolidated 
financial statements. 

(21.) Financial Instruments 

The following table presents the carrying amounts and fair values of financial assets and 
financial liabilities and their allocation to the fair value hierarchy. It does not contain any 
information on the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities that are not 
measured at fair value if the carrying amount of such items sufficiently approximates their 
fair value: 

EUR m 

 

Asset/liability 

Amounts 
recognized in the 
statement of 
financial position: 

31 Dec 2023 

Carrying 
amount 

Fair 
value 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

Financial assets at fair value 

Convertible loan Financial fixed assets 2.0 2.0  2.0  

Other participating 
interest 

Financial fixed assets 2.0 2.0  2.0  

Foreign currency 
instruments 

Financial fixed assets 0.6 0.6  0.6  

Money market funds  Trade and other 
receivables 

0.5 0.5 0.5   

Money market funds  Cash and cash 
equivalents 

119.1 119.1 119.1   
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Financial assets at amortized cost 

Trade receivables Trade and other 
receivables 

71.5     

Other financial 
assets 

Financial fixed assets 268.1     

Other financial 
assets 

Trade and other 
receivables 

134.7     

Cash and cash 
equivalents 

Cash and cash 
equivalents 

130.0     

Total 657.0     

Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost 

Convertible loan Convertible loan  11.2 11.2   11.2 

Bank loans Bank loans 67.7     

Trade payables Trade payables 399.3     

Supplier finance 
liabilities 

Supplier finance 
liabilities 

62.4     

Other financial 
liabilities  

Other financial 
liabilities  

13.3     

Total 553.9     

 

EUR m 

 

Asset/liability 

Amounts 
recognized in the 
statement of 
financial position: 

31 Dec 2022 

Carrying 
amount 

Fair 
value 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

Financial assets at fair value 

Money market funds  Cash and cash 
equivalents 

34.7 34.7 34.7 0.0 0.0 

Financial assets at amortized cost 

Trade receivables Trade receivables 42.3     

Other financial 
assets 

Financial fixed assets 10.3 
    

Cash and cash 
equivalents 

Cash and cash 
equivalents 

119.2 
    

Total 206.5     
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Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost 

Convertible loan Convertible loan  11.2 10.9 0.0 0.0 10.9 

Bank loans Bank loans 41.5     

Trade payables Trade payables 135.6     

Supplier finance 
liabilities 

Supplier finance 
liabilities 

30.2     

Other financial 
liabilities  

Other financial 
liabilities  

30.9     

Total 249.4     

Please refer to the financial instruments paragraph in the notes to the consolidated financial 
statements. 

In the notes to the consolidated financial statements information is included about Enpal 
Group’s exposure to financial risks, the Enpal Group’s objectives, policies and processes for 
measuring and managing risk, and the Enpal Group’s management of capital. These risks, 
objectives, policies and processes and the management of capital apply also to the 
separate financial statements of Enpal. However, the risks are limited to the risks described 
below:  

Foreign currency risk 

A foreign currency risk arises from current bank deposits of EUR 26.8m denominated in USD. 
An increase of 10% in the foreign currency rate would have resulted in a foreign currency loss 
of EUR 2.4m (2022: EUR 2.5m), a decrease of 10% in the USD/EUR rate would have resulted in 
a foreign currency gain of EUR 3.0m (2022: EUR 3.1m).  

In order to hedge the risk from bank deposits denominated in USD, Enpal entered into FX 
forward agreements with a financial institute. No hedge accounting has been applied.  

Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk refers to the risk that there may not be enough cash available to meet the 
financial obligations of Enpal. The risk can arise from insufficient liquidity where it is needed, 
inaccurate cash flow projections or a one-sided investment strategy for the cash reserves. 

Enpal manages its liquidity risks by keeping sufficient cash, credit lines at banks and other 
facilities as well as day-to-day cash flow planning at the level of the Group.  

The table below presents the undiscounted contractually agreed cash outflows of the 
financial liabilities. Their allocation to the periods when the cash outflows will occur is based 
on the earliest possible date on which the cash outflows can occur.  
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EUR m less than 1 year 
between 1 and 

5 years 
over 5 years 

Total 
contractual 
cash flows 

Convertible loan 0.0 16.4 0.0 16.4 

Bank loans 67.7 0.0 0.0 67.7 

Trade payables 135.6 0.0 0.0 135.6 

Supplier finance liabilities 62.4 0.0 0.0 62.4 

Other financial liabilities 13.3 0.0 0.0 13.3 

(22.) Off-Balance Sheet Assets and Liabilities 

Enpal had entered into purchase commitments of EUR 17.4m (2022: EUR 6.0m) for property, 
plant and equipment. 

Together with Enpal Sales GmbH, Enpal B.V. forms a fiscal unity for corporate tax and value-
added tax. The standard conditions stipulate that each of the companies is liable for the tax 
payable by both companies belonging to the fiscal unity. Enpal B.V. has a profit transfer 
agreement with Enpal Sales GmbH. Moreover, Enpal B.V. has cost-plus agreements with 
multiple subsidiaries.  

On 31 December 2023 Enpal guarantees in the form of issued comfort letters for all 
outstanding liabilities on behalf of several group companies (see the corresponding 
remarks in the table of consolidated subsidiaries of the consolidated financial statements). 

(23.) Related Parties 

Regarding the transactions with key management personnel reference is made to the 
related parties’ paragraph in the notes to the consolidated financial statements. 

The tables below present the related party transactions and balances of Enpal:  

  2023 2022 

EUR m Income Expenses Income Expenses 

Group companies 844.1 (444.4) 414.1 (112.9) 

     

  31 Dec 2023 31 Dec 2022 

EUR m Receivables Liabilities Receivables Liabilities 

Group companies 478.4 314.7 174.4 43.4 

All outstanding balances with these related parties are priced on an arm’s length basis.  
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(24.) Auditor’s Fees 

The fee for audit services charged by the KPMG group amounts to EUR 0.8m (2022: 
EUR 0.4m). Thereof EUR 0.2m (2022: EUR 0.0m) are charged by KPMG Accountants N.V. The 
fee relates to the audit of the consolidated financial statements and the separate financial 
statements of Enpal B.V. as well as the separate financial statements of six group 
companies. Extra costs of were recognized in the financial year for the audit of the prior 
year’s financial statements. 

(25.) Subsequent Events 

Regarding the subsequent event as at the date of this Annual Report reference is made to 
the subsequent event paragraph in the notes to the consolidated financial statements. 

(26.) Remuneration of executive directors and advisory board 

Regarding the remuneration of the key management personnel reference is made to the 
related party disclosures and sub-paragraph transactions with key management 
personnel in the notes to the consolidated financial statements. The advisory board 
members did not receive compensation for their services. 

 

 

Executive directors 

Amsterdam, 28 June 2024 

 

Mario Kohle 

Dr. Florian Christ 

Dr. Jochen Cassel 

Stephan Rink 

Henning Rath
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Other information 

Provisions in the Articles of Association governing the Profit Appropriation 

Under article 25 of Enpal’s Articles of Association, the profit is at the disposal of the General 
Meeting, which can allocate the profits as determined by the adoption of the annual 
accounts and to declare distributions to the shareholders. Any distributions to the 
shareholders, including profit distributions or distributions from reserves or liquidation 
proceeds, are paid out in a specific order based on the seed round. 

Special Provision in the Articles of Association regarding Governance 

The special shares are held by MVK Asset Management GmbH, whose executive director is 
an executive director at Enpal and a member of the advisory Board. Special share, as long 
as they are hold by a founder or founding company, entitle the holder to cast two votes per 
special share. 

Auditor’s report of the independent auditor 

The auditor’s report with respect to the consolidated and separate financial statements is 
set out on the next pages. 


